Fire Research Report

Sparking up an Old Flame: A Process Evaluation of the Fire Awareness and Intervention Programme (FAIP) in New Zealand

University of Auckland

September 2008

The Fire Awareness and Intervention programme is a community based treatment programme for children and adolescents who light fires. This process evaluation involved interviewing 68 participants (adolescents, parents and caregivers, programme staff and external agency staff) over a 5 month period between September 2007 and February 2008.

The study aimed to:

- document the operation and characteristics of the programmes;
- examine program delivery practice and processes that contribute to success and failures;
- and identify factors associated with successful programme outcomes.

(This research was done in two-parts. Please see report# 98: 'An Outcome Evaluation of New Zealand Fire Service Fire Awareness and Intervention Programme' for the other outcome on this piece of work.)



Sparking up an Old Flame: A Process Evaluation of the Fire Awareness and Intervention Programme (FAIP) in New Zealand

Summary Report

Prepared for:

Contestable Research Fund New Zealand Fire Commission

Date: September 2008

Prepared by:

Dr Ian Lambie and Tanya Popaduk Auckland UniServices Limited The University of Auckland Private Bag 92019 Auckland Mail Centre 70 Symonds St, Auckland Project: 12868.00

Reports from Auckland UniServices Limited should only be used for the purposes for which they were commissioned. If it is proposed to use a report prepared by Auckland UniServices Limited for a different purpose or in a different context from that intended at the time of commissioning the work, then UniServices should be consulted to verify whether the report is being correctly interpreted. In particular it is requested that, where quoted, conclusions given in UniServices reports should be stated in full.

Project Leader lan Lambie

Project Researcher

Tanya Popaduk

Consultants

Ray Coleman Associate Professor Fred Seymour Piki Thomas Leainne Nathan

Acknowledgements

The Contestable Research Fund from the New Zealand Fire Service, together with Auckland UniServices commissioned this process evaluation of the Fire Awareness and Intervention Programme. Thank you to all of the NZFS staff who participated in this project and offered their time so graciously. Particular thanks to Trevor Brown, Paula Beever, Ray Coleman, FAIP regional co-ordinators, practitioners and Jackie Lindsay who generously provided their assistance throughout this project.

Thank you to Piki Thomas from the NZFS and Leainne Nathan from Family Start/Department of Corrections for cultural consultation and support.

Thanks also to Samantha Haines at the University of Auckland whose research regarding 'International approaches to reducing deliberately lit fires' provided invaluable insight and paved the way for the current process evaluation of the FAIP.

Special gratitude must go to the adolescents and parents who participated in this study, your opinions and insights will contribute to the future development of the Fire Awareness and Intervention Programme in New Zealand and to other programmes internationally.

Finally, I am extremely grateful for the support of friends, family and colleagues.

Contents

Contents	4
Executive Summary	5
Recommendations	7
Programme delivery factors	7
Introduction	
Deliberately lit Fires in New Zealand	9
Interventions in New Zealand	
The Current Evaluation	10
Terminology	10
Developmental Issues	
Assessment of Fire Setters	11
Intervention Programmes	12
Educational Interventions	
Psychosocial interventions	17
Interventions thought to be ineffective	19
Limitations of Research	
Service delivery issues	20
Evaluation objectives	21
Project advisory group	22
Cultural Consultation	
Research Objectives	23
Research Methodologies	
Process Evaluation	
Participants	25
Programme staff	25
External Agency Staff	
Programme description	
Results	
Consumer Perspectives	34
Staff Perspectives	
External Agency Staff Perspectives	
Triangulation data	63
Conclusions	
Key Successes of the FAIP	
Strengths and Limitations of the Evaluation	
Recommendations	
Programme Delivery Factors	
References	73

Executive Summary

Purpose

The Contestable Research Fund from the New Zealand Fire Service, together with Auckland UniServices commissioned this process evaluation of the FAIP Programme. The primary objective was to evaluate the effectiveness of the Fire Awareness and Intervention programme which is a community based treatment programme for children and adolescents who light fires.

Method

Research literature regarding intervention programmes for adolescent fire setters was obtained from Internet sites including Psych Info, Pub Med and a review conducted. Research indicated that interventions for adolescents who light fires generally fall into one of two categories: educational or psycho-social. Education based interventions include provision of fire information and teaching of safety skills. The aim of psycho-social intervention is to address the psychological and social factors associated with fire setting. These interventions include cognitive-behavioural treatments (CBT), enhancing pro-social skills and parent-child relationships. While each of these intervention modalities have shown successful outcomes of reducing fire setting recidivism alone, researchers have begun to advocate for a collaborative approach to intervention (Adler, Nunn, Lebnan, Northam & Ross, 1994).

Since the 1990's the majority of intervention programme evaluations have derived from the U.S.A and the U.K. Thus the reported outcomes of interventions conducted in these countries are positioned within social, legal and cultural contexts that may not be representative of other countries such as New Zealand which has a diverse multicultural population. Reported studies have relatively suffered variable and often short term follow-up periods ranging from immediate post-intervention to two years with most favouring one year. Outcome evaluations typically rely on recidivism rates determined by either official records only or parental reports only to determine their success. This evaluation responds to the lack of information in the literature with regard to experiences of interventions by providing an in depth exploration of the strengths and weaknesses of the Fire Awareness and Intervention Programme.

The process evaluation involved interviewing 68 participants (adolescents, parents and caregivers, programme staff and external agency staff) over a 5 month period between September 2007 and February 2008. The study aimed to: document the operation and characteristics of the programmes; examine program delivery practice and processes that contribute to success and failures; and identify factors associated with successful programme outcomes.

Results

Overall adolescents and their families reported positive experiences of the services that were provided by the programme.

The results from this process evaluation indicate: (a) the need for a flexible approach to intervention which allows for the practitioner to respond to the unique needs of the child/adolescent and their families, (b) practitioner's qualities of empathy and understanding are crucial for developing rapport with the adolescent and their families, (c) the importance of providing an education based intervention which is tailored to the adolescents age and developmental level, (d) resources need to be updated and used flexibly to respond appropriately to the age and developmental level of the adolescent, (e) inter-agency and intra-agency relationships need to be developed and maintained with formal arrangements for reciprocal referral systems developed in order to respond to the needs of the clients, (f) additional and ongoing training is required for staff of the FAIP, (g) active recruitment of practitioners (in particular those from minority groups) is required to meet the needs of the clients of FAIP.

Recommendations

Programme delivery factors

- 1. To ensure that current resources are reviewed and updated regularly and to investigate the possibility of using interactive information technology based resources (CD Rom, Internet, Electronic games).
- 2. To ensure that follow-up contact is carried out after the completion of the FAIP and that further follow-up is arranged as necessary.
- 3. To develop a fire screening questionnaire that can assist with tailoring the FAIP to the needs of the young person.
- 4. To implement a trial of the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) in 1-2 Fire regions of NZ for 1 year and evaluate the success of this as a behavioural and mental health screening questionnaire.

Organisational factors

- 5. To ensure the continued evaluation of FAIP program success at regular intervals of between 2-5 years.
- 6. To develop and maintain relationships between the NZFS and Police, Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services, Schools, Youth Offender Treatment Programmes and CYFs.
- 7. To promote the FAIP within the entire NZFS to ensure all NZFS staff support the programme.
- 8. To increase awareness of the FAIP within the wider community and professional networks to ensure that early identification and intervention with child and adolescent fire lighters occurs.
- 9. To ensure the appointment of at least one full time practitioner in fire regions such as Auckland where there are high referral rates.
- 10. That professional development occurs at regular intervals to ensure practitioner skills are maintained and developed.
- 11. To incorporate a variety of training methods into the existing training package. This may include utilising professional actors in role plays demonstrating intervention with clients presenting with a variety of needs, which can be viewed on DVD by trainees. This would ensure standardisation of training and respond to 'adult learning principles' such as auditory, kinaesthetic, visual learning styles.

Cultural Responsivity

- 12. To further investigate the need to develop culturally specific resources in collaboration with the National Māori Advisor and the Iwi Liaison Officers (Resources may include the use of Maori myths and legends).
- 13. To develop a best practice guidance and training package in consultation with cultural advisors for working with Māori families and other cultural groups and to ensure the formal and regular provision of cultural supervision for FAIP staff.
- 14. To actively recruit practitioners from diverse cultural backgrounds in order to address the different cultural needs of FAIP clients.

Introduction

Historically, it was only adults who were perceived to deliberately light fires; however international forensic statistics indicate otherwise (Lambie, McCardle & Coleman, 2002). International statistics indicate that many children and adolescents are engaging in deliberate fire setting behaviour. However, examining reported fires presents only part of the problem (Kolko, 1999). Many instances of children engaging in fire setting behaviour go unreported and are motivated by curiosity or boredom. However, curiosity, coupled with lack of fire safety education, often results in houses, cars and school classrooms being burnt down and in tragically results in children dying in the fires that they lit (Hall, 2000).

Deliberately lit Fires in New Zealand

In New Zealand, the total financial cost of fires is estimated to be around \$320 million per year (Goodchild, Sanderson, Leung-Wai & Nana, 2005). Over the past 25 years, school fires have cost the New Zealand Ministry of Education on average NZ\$5.2 million annually (Duncan, et al., 2002). "The New Zealand Fire Service reports that 8,517 fires were deliberately lit in 2005" (N. Challands, personal communication, October 11, 2006 cited in Haines, Lambie & Seymour, 2006, p. 9) and "2,022 arson offences were recorded" (L. Mackie, personal communication, August 9, 2006 cited in Haines, Lambie & Seymour, 2006, p. 9). Statistics for the year 2006 report that children under that age of 21 years perpetrated 75% of all arson offences which were recorded and 57% of those were under the age of 17 years (Statistics New Zealand, 2006). During July 2006-June 2007 the Fire Service responded to 624 young people who had been involved in fire setting with 51% of those aged between 11-14 years.

Interventions in New Zealand

In New Zealand, the Fire Service is the only agency offering interventions for adolescent fire setters. The New Zealand Fire Service runs one intervention programme called the Fire Awareness Intervention Programme (FAIP). The Fire Wise Programme is an education and safety package provided to all schools in New Zealand. The Programme aims to educate the school community with regard to fire safety practices, employing the use of fire safety checklists, practicing fire evacuation drills and ensure that procedures are formalised for recording all incidents of fire.

The Fire Wise Programme is delivered by teachers in conjunction with the school curriculum. In addition, NZFS personnel including a Cultural Liaison Officer are available undertake school visits as necessary. Further information on the Fire Wise programme can be found on the NZFS website (http://www.fire.org.nz).

The Fire Awareness Intervention Programme (FAIP) is an education based intervention programme for young people who have engaged in fire setting behaviour and their caregivers. It includes components such as fire safety education, developing an escape plan and installation of smoke alarms in the child's home. Participation in the FAIP is usually on a voluntary basis except

when a referral to the FAIP via a Family Group Conference instigated by CYFs. The aim of FAIP is "To reduce the incidence of fire play and other related incidents in pre-adolescents, juveniles and at risk adults, by intervention and education, and to investigate the occurrence of fire setting and fire related behavioural problems associated with these groups" (New Zealand Fire Service, 2007).

The Current Evaluation

The Fire Service by way of the FAIP, has been providing interventions to fire setters in New Zealand for the last 15 years and primarily measures its success by the fire setting recidivism rate. The NZFS determines that any child/adolescent who has completed the FAIP and is re-referred within one year, a recidivist fire setter. If the child/adolescent is re-referred after one year, a new file is opened and they are regarded as a new referral. A more qualitative measure of success is provided by responses from parents to a voluntary feedback form which is provided to parents at the conclusion of the intervention.

As previously stated, understanding of programme success and effectiveness is limited by over-reliance upon recidivism data which is collected on the basis of short term follow up. The New Zealand Fire Service (NZFS) records only those who set another fire within one year as recidivists. If the child sets a fire one year post intervention they are regarded as a 'new client' and a new file is established. Using this procedure alone to quantify recidivism is limited, in that it relies on the child coming to the official attention of the Fire Service subsequent to the intervention. International literature notes that many fires go unreported (Faranda et al., 2001; Kolko, 1988) and thus the recidivism data collected by the NZFS may under-represent the level of recidivism and over-represent the success of the programme.

To date, no process or outcome evaluation of the FAIP has been undertaken. In order to address this, the Contestable Research Fund from the New Zealand Fire Service, together with Auckland UniServices commissioned a process evaluation of the FAIP Programme. This evaluation aims to document the characteristics of the programme, processes by which the programme is provided to adolescents and their families, and crucially this evaluation responds to the limitations of previous research has not sought to investigate adolescents and their parents/caregivers perceptions and experiences of the intervention (Morrison, 2004). Additionally, this study will gather the views of programme staff and staff from external agencies with regard to their experiences of the FAIP.

Terminology

Fire setting behaviour refers to the deliberate and repeated act of setting a fire with the use of ignition materials such as matches and lighters. Children and adolescents, who set fires deliberately, will often watch the fire burn and then run away (Gaynor, 1991; Haines et al., 2006). Children who set fires often engage in other externalising antisocial behaviour such as fighting and stealing (Brett, 2003; Dadds & Fraser, 2006; Kennedy, Vale, Khan & McAnaney, 2006; Martin, Bergen, Richardson, Roeger & Allison, 2003). Research suggests that adults charged

with arson have typically engaged in fire setting behaviour as adolescents thus early intervention is critical (Gaynor, Huff, & Karchmer, 1986; Rice et al., 1991).

Developmental Issues

It is important to note that most children demonstrate an interest in fire from as early as 3 years, often having had no direct experience with fire (Gaynor & Hatcher, 1987; Grolnick, Cole, Laurenitis & Schwartzman, 1990; Haines et al., 2006; Lambie, et al., 2002; Putnam & Kirkpatrick, 2005). Young children between the ages of 3 and 5 years will often express their fire interest in a limited way via play, which may include conversations about fire and or, the use of props such as fire hoses or fire trucks (Gaynor, 1991; Haines et al., 2006; Kolko, 1999).

Between the ages of five and nine, children typically express their curiosity or interest in fire by directly engaging in fire lighting behaviour such as lighting and cooking using an open fire (Lambie et al., 2002). Children's initial curiosity about fire can either develop into safe or dangerous fire behaviour (Gaynor and Hatcher, 1987). If children are supervised and taught to handle fire in a safe manner, they develop fire safe behaviours. However when children have a curiosity for fire, and simultaneously experience stressful life events and family difficulties, they are at greater risk of developing unsafe fire behaviours(Gaynor, 1991; Haines et al., 2006; Kolko & Kazdin, 1991; MacKay, Henderson, Del Bove, Marton, Warling, & Root, 2006).

Children who engage in fire setting behaviour in the absence of parental supervision or guidance often do so as a result of opportunity. That is, the incident is usually the result of the child's curiosity, is unplanned, makes use of available ignition implements and results in the child extinguishing the fire and calling for help (Gaynor et al., 1987; Haines et al., 2006). Engaging in opportunistic fire experimentation behaviour for the first time is usually associated with a low level of recidivism; however it does result in fires one third of the time. Thus, the risk level does not always equate with the initial intention (Gaynor et al., 1987; Haines et al., 2006).

Assessment of Fire Setters

In order to distinguish reliably the possible subgroups of fire setters and facilitate appropriate placement decisions and specialised interventions, assessment of the young person is essential (Kennedy et al., 2006; Muller & Stebbins, 2006; Sharpe et al., 2006). Researchers have identified several essential features of a comprehensive assessment including; a detailed account of the child's experiences with and knowledge of fire, behavioural and cognitive functioning, social and emotional functioning and the family functioning overall (Kolko, Wilcox, Nishi-Strattner & Kopet, 2002; MacKay et al., 2004). In order to distinguish curious fire setting behaviour from more complex pathological fire setting behaviour at assessment, clinicians are advised to investigate the history or frequency of fire setting behaviour, motives, ignition materials, the target and the behaviours. A comprehensive assessment will facilitate appropriate matching of the intervention to the child's level of risk and need.

Intervention Programmes

Interventions with young fire setters and their families typically involve one of two approaches: educational and/or psycho-social interventions (Kolko, 2002). Fire safety education interventions typically involve didactic teaching of fire safety information with particular emphasis placed on the consequences of fire. Often practical activities such as making emergency calls, designing an escape plan and installing smoke alarms are included (Pinsonneault, 2002; Pinsonneault, Richardson & Pinsonneault, 2002). By contrast, psychosocial interventions involve cognitive-behavioural treatments such as graphing techniques whereby the child is asked to explain the events leading up to and following the most recent fire setting behaviour. Cognitive-behavioural interventions aim to teach the child pro-social skills and enhance relationships (Kolko, 2002).

Research has indicated that both educational and psycho-social interventions have shown effectiveness in addressing the needs of children and adolescents who light fires. Therefore efforts have been made to incorporate both approaches in intervention programmes (Cole, Grolnick & Schwartzman, 1999; Cook, Hersh, Gaynor & Roehl, 1989, Webb, Sakhiem, Towns-Miranda, & Wagner, 1990), though few outcome studies have been reported in the literature (Kolko et al., 2006). In order to disseminate best practice and reduce recidivism, it is crucial to establish whether educational interventions and psycho-social interventions demonstrate the improvements which are expected based on their theoretical framework (Kolko et al., 2006).

There is a prevailing assumption that educational interventions are more effective with children who are categorised as 'curious' fire setters. That is, they engage in fire setting behaviour as a result of curiosity, have access to fire setting materials, and are usually first time fire lighters. Conversely, psycho-social interventions are assumed to be more effective with children who present with characteristics of 'pathological fire setting behaviour'. Pathological fire setters engage in fire setting which is frequent, deliberate and often concealed. Psycho-social interventions seek to improve dysfunctional family systems including parent-child relationships believed to be factors in the development of pathological fire setting behaviour (Federal Emergency Management Agency [FEMA], 1983; Kolko et al., 2006).

These assumptions are designed to aid in matching of treatment to need however there is no empirical evidence to support such assumptions. Research suggests that community based interventions in which agencies collaborate may be the most effective way of reducing the risk of fire setting recidivism. Interventions where the fire services deliver fire safety skills education in addition to psychosocial interventions delivered by mental health professionals can lead to positive outcomes for adolescents and their caregivers (Barreto et al., 2004; Eglintine, Horn & Muckley, 1993; Kolko, 2001, 2002; Lambie et al., 2002).

Table 2 below summarises studies reporting outcomes of educational and psychosocial intervention.

Table 2: Studies reporting outcomes of educational and psychosocial interventions for adolescent fire setters

Study	Country	Treatment type and setting	Treatment group (n)	Comparison group (n)	Follow-up period	Recidivism rates
Adler, Nunn, Lebnan &	Australia	Community.	138 children	Randomised	12 months	57% (n = 79)
Northam (1994)		Education and behaviour modification.	Aged 5 to16- years-old	control		
		Random assignment to:				
		 Fire safety education & graphing technique Educational reading material 				
Bumpass, Fagelman & Brix (1983)	U.S.A.	Psycho-social and education	29 children Aged 5 to 14- years-old	0	6 months to 8 years x= 30 months	16% (n = 22/26)
Bumpass et al. (1985)	U.S.A.	Psycho-social and education	150 children Aged 5 to 13- years-old	0	6 months to 8 years $x=30$ months	2% (n = 1)
Burchill (1984)	U.S.A.	Inpatient. Education and skill development for emotional self monitoring.	100 children	0	24 months	0% (n = 0)
De Salvatore & Hornstein (1991)	U.S.A.	Inpatient. Education and behaviour therapy.	52 children Aged 4 to 8- years-old	0	12 months	2% (n = 1)
Faranda et al. (2001)	U.S.A.	Community. Education	188 children Aged 2 to 17- years-old	0	12 months	2.1% (n = 4)
FEMA (1983)	U.S.A.	Community. Education	766 children	0	11 months	1.25% (n = 10)
Franklin et al. (2002)	U.S.A.	Inpatient. Education	132 children aged 4 to 17- years-old	102	8-30 months	0.75% (n = 1/132) compared to control 36% (n = 37/102)

Study	Country	Treatment type and setting	Treatment group (n)	Comparison group (n)	Follow-up period	Recidivism rates
Kolko (2001)	U.S.A.	Inpatient. Random assignment to: 1) Education (FSE), 2) Cognitive-behavioural therapy (CBT), 3) Fireman home visit (FHV)	46 boys Aged 5 to 13- years-old	Randomised control group	24 months	All conditions show significant reduction in fire setting: 50% FHV, 24% CBT, 15% FSE
Kolko, Watson & Faust (1991)	U.S.A.	Inpatient. Education. Random assignment to: 1) Fire Safety Skills training (FSST) 2) Fire safety and awareness (FAA)	24 children Aged 4-8-years- old	Randomised control group	6 months	58% FAA Group 16.6% FSST Group
Nishi Strattner (2003)	U.S.A.	Community. Education and parent training	219 children Aged 4 to 17- years-old	0	3 months to 3 years	6% (n = 13)
Schwartzmann, Stambaugh & Kimball (1998)	U.S.A.	Community. Psycho-social	50 children	0	12 months	7% (n = 4)
Williams & Jones (1989)	U.K.	Community. Education. Random assignment to: 1) Fire safety training, 2) Fire safety/fear reduction training, 3) Attention control, 4) Wait-list control.	48 children Aged 7 to 10- years-old	Randomised control group	5 months	Improvement in response to emergency fire situation for conditions 1+2 not 3+4

Educational Interventions

Empirical studies evaluating the effectiveness of interventions which use educational approaches have shown positive results. In North America the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA, 1983) undertook an evaluation of interventions with adolescent fire setters. The relatively large study evaluated programmes across eight sites and included 766 children. The programmes involved fire safety assignments and educational discussions. At 11 month follow-up, FEMA found a recidivism rate of 1%, however without a control group it is unclear whether this low level of recidivism would have occurred without intervention.

Faranda, Katsika and Lim (2001) evaluated the Broward County Florida's Juvenile Fire setter Prevention Network's success at reducing recidivism via a fire safety workshop intervention. Authors reported a 2% recidivism rate over a follow-up period of one year. This study suffers similar limitations as that of Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA, 1983) in that without a control group and reliance on official records only, it is difficult to determine whether this low level of recidivism would have occurred without intervention.

Similarly low recidivism rates have been found in clinical settings. Burchill (1984) reported a study of 100 inpatient children who had been given an intervention of fire safety education and skill development for behavioural and emotional self monitoring. Also the children and their families received intensive family therapy. None of the 100 children engaged in subsequent fire setting within a two year follow-up period.

In the United Kingdom, Williams and Jones (1989) randomly assigned forty-eight children aged 7-10 years to one of four conditions; 1) fire safety training, who were taught fire safety steps and asked to express them verbally 2) fire safety training/fear reduction training, who were told to use self control statements when provoked by sounds such as hearing a fire burning 3) attention control, who had a discussion, drew picture and wrote stories about fire incidents and 4) waitlist control who were provided with an assessment only. The results indicated significant improvement for only 1) fire safety training group and 2) fire safety training/fear reduction training group at five month follow-up. Furthermore, the greatest maintenance of emergency skills was found in the fire safety/fear reduction group. The authors suggested that when participants engaged in the self instruction, this gave greater meaning and thus effectiveness to the task.

In response to increased admissions to paediatric unit for burns, the Trauma Burn Outreach Prevention Programme (TBOPP) was conceived in Michigan, North America. This programme was evaluated during 1999 by Franklin, Pucci, Arbabi, Brandt, Wahl and Taheri (2002). The TBOPP is a one day, hospital based programme for young people who have deliberately lit one or more fires. Referrals to the programme are received from the county court system, local fire

departments, schools and families. This programme is unique in that it is delivered by a range of professionals including doctors, nurses, and fire fighters. Emphasis is placed upon individual responsibility for fire setting behaviour, participants are educated with regard to the consequences of deliberate fire and are given the opportunity to view the burns unit. Crucially, caregivers are expected to attend with the children and are provided with fire safety equipment including smoke detectors.

Franklin et al. (2002), randomly assigned children aged between 4 and 17 years to either the 'fire safety education' group (n = 132) or the 'no education' group (n = 102). In some cases, participants in the 'no education' group were granted a single visit from a fire fighter, and in other cases the 'no education' group did not receive any intervention. Participants were followed up for a period ranging from 8 to 30 months. Recidivism rates for the 'fire safety education' group were 0.75% (n = 1) compared to 36% in the control 'no education' group (n = 37). Whilst it may be possible to conclude the success of this intervention in reducing recidivism, it should be noted that this study may have been subject to selection bias. Referrals to this programme were drawn from 'the system' (i.e., courts, fire department and law enforcement agencies) and recidivism rates determined using official records only. Reliance on official records alone may result in underreporting of behaviour.

Utilising an inpatient sample Kolko, Watson and Faust (1991) randomly assigned 24 children between the ages of 4 and 8-years to one of two intervention conditions; Fire Safety and Prevention Skills Training Group (FSST) or Fire Assessment and Awareness (FAA). The FSST group completed four sessions of instruction regarding the characteristics of fire, safe fire use and personal fire safety. The FAA group completed four sessions involving a fire risk assessment, open-ended discussions regarding the children's recent use of fire and the children were also given a fire safety colouring book.

At six month follow-up, parental reports indicated that 17% of the FSST group and 58% of the FAA group were recidivists. The FSST group reported less fire interest and increased fire safety knowledge and follow up match play was associated with limited fire safety knowledge. Reliance solely on parental reports to determine recidivism is open to social desirability. Thus consideration must be given to the possibility that reported recidivism rates of the participants may have been under-reported.

In the United States, a character called 'Smokey the Bear' was used to educate 52 inpatient child fire setters aged between 4 and 12-years (De Salvatore & Hornstein, 1991). Using a combination of education and behaviour therapy, the children were didactically taught fire safety and the correct way to light matches was modelled. Family participation was encouraged and parents engaged in role plays with their children. Finally the children undertook a written and verbal test in

order to demonstrate competency. One year following intervention, only one child engaged in fire setting.

Psychosocial interventions

Psychosocial interventions aim to address the psychological and social factors associated with fire setting. These interventions include cognitive-behavioural treatments (CBT), enhancing pro-social skills and parent-child relationships (Kolko, 2002; Palmer et al., 2007). Graphing is one specific technique employed in CBT based interventions, which was piloted by the Dallas Fire Department. The graphing process involves the child recounting the events leading up to and following the most recent fire setting behaviour. The child is then asked to describe any feelings that they have experienced over that period of time which are graphed according to the intensity of each emotion. The aim of the graphing process is to examine the relationship between the fire setting event and the fire setter's emotions in order that a causal relationship is established. Following this process, alternative helpful behaviours can be introduced (Sharp et al., 2006).

Bumpass, Fagelman and Brix (1983) reported results of a small study of 29 children between 5 and 14-years old who had fire setting histories. The intervention utilised a combination of fire safety education and a graphing technique which visually depicted the intensity of each emotion in relation the fire setting incident. The children were taught how to identify the onset of each pattern, how to interrupt it and replace the fire setting behaviour with socially acceptable responses to their feelings. The children were followed-up for a period ranging from 6 months to 8 years with a mean follow-up period of 30 months. Only 4 of the 26 children contacted at follow-up had lit subsequent fires. The authors note that six children had been referred for additional therapy which had not been taken. These six children had subsequently been involved in other antisocial activities such as theft.

Employing the same combination of techniques, Bumpass, Brix and Preston (1985) evaluated the success of this intervention for 150 child and adolescent fire setters between the ages of 5 and 13-years. The follow-up period ranged from 6 months to 8 years with a mean follow-up period of 30 months. The authors reported that three children subsequently lit fires. This study is notable for its comparison of the number of fires set in the community, prior to and after the intervention. Reported fires in the Dallas area dropped by 31% after the intervention. These figures should be viewed with caution as, without provision of a manual and a measure of adherence to the manual, it is difficult to measure which of the intervention types were effective.

Schwartzman, Stambaugh and Kimball (1998) evaluated Oregon's Community Alternatives to Commitment Hazards (CATCH) Programme and reported a 7% recidivism rate at 1 year follow-up. The CATCH programme is an intensive psychosocial programme which is delivered in group format to adolescents aged

13-17-years-old. The intervention was delivered over 16 sessions, by Fire Service professionals and a youth counsellor. The participants were taught to identify feelings, manage anger, question thinking and create a personal fire graph. The parents of participants were taught the same skills that their children are learning and additionally parenting skills. However, without use of a manual, measures of the adherence to the protocol and delivery standardisation cannot be established. Thus it is difficult to ascertain which treatment modalities were effective in reducing recidivism.

Nishi-Strattner (2003) evaluated the Washington County (Oregon) Fire Academy Programme. The programme combined fire safety education and parent training for 219 children between the ages of 4 and 17 years. The children were also taught social skills to enable them to resist peer pressure. The parent training component addressed lack of parental supervision and low use of punishments and rewards which represent risk factors for fire setting. A recidivism rate of 6% was found for the follow-up period of between 3 months and 3 years.

One of the few comparative evaluations has been undertaken in Australia by Adler, Nunn, Lebnan, Northam and Ross (1994). Using a collaborative design which was modelled on Bumpass et al. (1985), 138 children aged 5 to 16-years were randomly assigned to one of two conditions. The intervention group received 3 home visits by a fire fighter which included fire safety education, graphing techniques and behavioural satiation. Additionally, parents received instruction in applying negative consequences if fire setting occurred. The control group received a home visit by fire fighter and were left with educational reading material. At one-year follow-up, the authors found significant decrease in the frequency and severity of fire setting behaviours for both conditions. Of the fire setters who showed improvement, 43% did not re-offend within the following year. The authors concluded that the multifaceted intervention was no more effective than the single home visit by fire-fighters and provision of educational reading material. The child's psychopathology was the only significant factor for fire setting behaviour at one year follow-up. Age, number of fire setting incidents and the number of smokers in the house were not significant. On this basis, Adler et al. (1994) recommended that brief community interventions may be appropriate for fire setters without major adjustment problems however those with major problems should be provided more intensive interventions by mental health professionals.

More recently in the United States, Kolko (2001) undertook a comparative evaluation of 46 boys aged 5 to 13-years. Participants were assigned to one of two skills based groups; Fire safety education (FSE) or Cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT). Participants in the FSE group received an average of 5.5 sessions compared to the CBT group who received on average, 7.4 sessions. The intensive intervention groups FSE and CBT were compared to a group who received a brief intervention consisting of a single home visit by a fire fighter (FHV) as this represented a routine community intervention. Parental reports at

2-year follow-up indicated that all three interventions significantly reduced the frequency of fire setting incidents. Both FSE and CBT showed the greatest reduction in fire setting incidents compared to the FHV. More specifically, the FSE group demonstrated enhanced fire safety skills and the CBT group reported significant decreases in fire interest.

Outcome studies in the literature have reported that interventions falling under two broad categories, education and psychosocial, have demonstrated various degrees of success. However, there are some interventions which have been shown to be ineffective. These are discussed below.

Interventions thought to be ineffective

Additionally, there are interventions regarded as ineffective in reducing fire setting behaviour. Satiation, which involves children repeatedly lighting fires and extinguishing fires is based on the premise that children's interest in the fire will wane and children will tire of the repeated exposure to the activity (Wolff, 1984). Grolnick et al, (1990) asserted that repeated practice may result in the child feeling falsely competent and 'in control', which is likely to lead to increases rather than decreases in the behaviour.

Other interventions which are ineffectual include instilling fear into a child by lecturing, threatening or using punishments. These interventions are believed to create at best, situational compliance only. That is, compliance only when there is the threat of being witnessed (Cole et al., 2005). The optimal environment for behaviour change to occur is a supportive caring environment where children have been given clear boundaries and limits. In this setting they can safely learn new coping skills and communicate their thoughts and feelings. When children are fully engaged in the change process, motivation becomes internalised and negative behaviours are replaced (Cole et al., 2005; Grolnick et al., 1997).

Limitations of Research

The relative successes of different interventions must be viewed within the context of the limitations of the reported outcome studies. Since the 1990's the majority of intervention programme evaluations have derived from the U.S.A and the U.K. Thus the reported outcomes of interventions conducted in these countries are positioned within social, legal and cultural contexts that may not be representative of other countries such as New Zealand which has a diverse multicultural population (Morrison, 2006). The indigenous people of New Zealand, Maori comprise 15% and Pacific Island people comprising 7% of the New Zealand population (Statistics New Zealand, 2006), thus consideration should be given to the extent to which international research can be generalised to New Zealand.

Reported studies have relatively suffered variable and often short term follow-up periods ranging from immediate post-intervention to two years with most

favouring one year (FEMA, 1983; Williams & Jones, 1989), Future research should evaluate the effect of treatment length and include more long-term follow-up. Other limitations include the lack of control groups (FEMA, 1983; Faranda et al., 2001) and lack of adherence to a standardised manual (Bumpass et al., 1985; Franklin et al., 2001). The use of a standardised manual to deliver interventions is extremely important as it promotes treatment standardisation and integrity. It is not clear from the literature the specific content which contributes to a successful fire safety education programme and there are no empirically based standards established.

Outcome evaluations typically rely on recidivism rates determined by either official records only (Franklin et al., 2002) or parental reports only (Kolko et al., 1991) to determine their success. Failure to use multiple informants to determine the rates of recidivism means that the statistics may under-represent the actual rate of recidivism and therefore over-represent the successes of the interventions. Future research should ensure that information regarding recidivism is collected from multiple informants.

Existing research reports acts of deliberate fire setting post intervention but very few indicate whether clients have engaged in other antisocial activities (Bumpass, Fagelman & Brix, 1983; De Salvatore & Hornstein, 1991; Franklin et al., 2002). Future research should measure this, given the tendency for fire lighting to co-occur with other types of externalising behaviours.

Finally, while many outcome evaluations have been published, the absence of process evaluations in which evaluators have interviewed people who actually light fires, has been highlighted. Programme evaluations have also neglected to include interviews with those who have delivered the interventions. Interviews with both adolescents as consumers of interventions and practitioners who deliver the interventions would offer new insight into what is currently successful in stopping repeated fire lighting, or what could be successful in reducing the number of deliberately lit fires (Haines et al., 2006).

Service delivery issues

In conclusion, the literature suggests that interventions are most effective when agencies deliver the intervention from within their particular area of expertise. Therefore, fire safety education is best delivered by the Fire Service, conversely psycho-social interventions are likely to be more effective when delivered by mental health professionals (Adler et al., 1994).

While education and psycho-social interventions have demonstrated success when delivered individually, greater success may be possible when agencies collaborate and engage in aggressive outreach (National Association of State Fire Marshals, 2000; Webb, et al., 1990).

The National Association of State Fire Marshals (2000) evaluated an intervention delivered across four areas of the United States, including Columbus Ohio; Phoenix Arizona; Portland Oregon; and Rochester New York. The interventions all included a combination of safety education, therapeutic activities and follow-up. The evaluation concluded that the success of the interventions was due to strong relationships between multiple agencies. High levels of collaboration exist between Fire Service, schools and law enforcement and in some cases with community organisations. Additional factors which contributed to the success of these interventions included a clear referral system which facilitated early identification of potential fire setters and a flexible approach to the use of resources.

Interventions that are multidisciplinary and collaborative across many community agencies are likely to have the greatest impact. Internationally, deliberate fire setting results in a high financial and social cost both to the individuals who light fires and to the community. It is imperative then that interventions for adolescent fire setters have successful outcomes to prevent further incidences of fire setting. Thus it is critical that intervention programmes are evaluated regularly and their best practice disseminated (Haines et al., 2006).

Evaluation objectives

As mentioned at the beginning of this chapter, there has been no systematic evaluation of the Fire Awareness and Intervention Programme to date. Moreover, outcome studies dominate the international literature with a focus on recidivism rates as the primary measure of a program's success. In fact there appears to be a complete lack of information available about the contextual factors of programme operations and the processes that influence outcomes. It is therefore suggested that this study is unique because it provides information about the FAIP from those who have first hand experience of it. This information is derived from interviews with adolescent clients and their families who have engaged in the FAIP, as well as programme staff and staff from external agencies.

The aim of the study was to investigate how the FAIP works so that strengths and weaknesses can be identified. This was achieved by reviewing programme documentation such as the 'New Zealand Fire Service Best Practice Guide' and the training manual. A key aspect of this evaluation is that it responds to limitations of previous research which has neglected to investigate the perceptions of those who experience the programme (Morrison, 2004). Interviews were undertaken with four groups, namely adolescent clients, their parents and caregivers, programme staff and staff from external agencies across six geographical sites. Interviews were conducted between September 2007 and February 2008.

The specific aims of the study were to:

- 1. Investigate adolescent consumer and caregiver perceptions of the extent to which the programme meets their needs.
- 2. Investigate programme staff responses to the programme, including perceptions of strengths and weaknesses.
- 3. Investigate stakeholder knowledge and perceptions about the programme
- 4. Identification of processes to improve the programme which is informed by information obtained from programme documentation, and interviews with adolescent and caregiver consumers, programme staff, and external agencies.
- 5. Assess the extent to which the programme caters for specific populations groups (i.e., high risk clients), Maori and Pacific Island people (degree to which the programme accesses the target population, especially Maori and Pacific Island clients), females and children.
- 6. Assessment of the degree to which the programme has quality assurance systems in place.

Project advisory group

For the purpose of this evaluation the researchers consulted with the Fire Awareness and Intervention Program (FAIP) National and Regional Coordinators. Leainne Nathan from Family Start/Department of Corrections and Piki Thomas from NZFS provided cultural support and guidance. Regular meetings were held to clarify ideas about the methodology and to detail how the research would be undertaken in practice.

Cultural Consultation

One of the key aims of this evaluation was to determine the extent to which FAIP met the needs of adolescents and their families. Maori adolescents represent almost one third of the total number of referrals made to FAIP annually, thus the inclusion of Maori perspectives regarding programme effectiveness was seen as crucial to the evaluation. Piki Thomas the National Maori Advisor from the New Zealand Fire Service, and Leainne Nathan a Cultural Consultant for the Department of Corrections/family Start provided assistance in the development of culturally appropriate questions for Maori participants in order to ensure cultural sensitivity and safety.

Research Objectives

Process evaluation objectives

A. Programme Description

- 1. To document the operation and characteristics of the FAIP programme, the environment in which it operates, limitations, and how this relates to best practice.
- 2. To document the target group (clients). This includes how the programme defines the clients in terms of their risk of recidivism, barriers to them accessing treatment programmes. In addition questions to be answered may include the following: Are Maori and Pacific Island clients getting the same access to treatment or are they being dealt with in a different way by other community services? Are the needs of female clients being catered for adequately?

B. Effectiveness

- 1. To investigate client and caregiver perceptions of the extent to which the programme meets their needs.
- 2. To investigate stakeholders' response to the programmes, including perceptions of strengths and weaknesses.
- 3. To investigate the potential efficacy of the therapeutic models and processes used with reference to the international literature and client perceptions.
- 4. To assess the extent to which the programme caters for specific populations groups (i.e., high risk clients), Maori and Pacific Island people (degree to which the program accesses the target population, especially Maori and Pacific Island clients), special needs, females and children.
- 5. To investigate the degree to which the programmes have quality assurance systems in place.
- 6. An important aspect of delivering human services effectively are the staff hence an important construct is to consider staff characteristics demographic information; training; experience and what fields; qualifications; supervisory support; treatment orientations and preferences; clinical decision-making etc).

C. Changes/Recommendations

1. To identify processes to improve the programmes that will be informed by information obtained from programme documentation, and interviews with programme staff, clients, caregivers and stakeholders.

Research Methodologies

Process Evaluation

Qualitative research methods were used, as these permit the exploration of the programme processes and outcomes and highlights programme strengths and weaknesses (Patton, 2002a). Programme documentation such as 'FAIP Best Practices Guide', the 'National Training Manual' and accompanying 'Practical Training Guide', brochures, information sheets and programme handouts were reviewed. The primary source of information for the purpose of this evaluation was interview data collected with four groups; child/adolescents, their parents/caregivers, programme staff and staff from external agencies between September 2007 and February 2008. Interviews were conducted with participants across six fire regions in New Zealand; Arapawa, Auckland, Eastern, Northland, Transalpine and Western regions.

An inductive approach to data analysis was utilised as this permits themes in the data to emerge without the use of predetermined categories for analysis (Braun & Clarke, 2006). Triangulation in qualitative data analysis is crucial to strengthen the validity of findings and involves the comparison of multiple sources of information (Patton, 1987). In this study interview data was compared to file information, the perspectives of FAIP co-ordinators and training staff was compared with programme practitioners and interview responses from adolescents was compared to that of parents and caregivers.



Participants

The four interviewee groups comprised programme staff (n = 23), adolescent clients (n = 17), caregivers (n = 22) and external agency staff (n = 6). The distribution of interview groups across each programme site is shown in Table 3.

Table 3: Distribution of Interviews by Programme Site

	Programme Staff	Adolescent Clients	Caregivers	External Agency Staff	TOTAL
Arapawa	2	-	-	-	2
Auckland	4	8	10	6	28
Eastern	5	1	3	-	9
Northland	3	2	2	-	7
Transalpine	4	4	5	-	13
Western	5	2	2	-	9
TOTAL	23	17	22	6	68

Programme staff

Interviews were conducted with FAIP co-ordinators and practitioners in Arapawa, Auckland, Eastern, Northland, Transalpine and Western regions. The aim of the interviews was to get an overview of the FAIP programme and information about the strengths and weaknesses of the programme. A total of 23 interviews were conducted with programme staff, including programme co-ordinators (n=6), practitioners (n=15) and staff from the training team (n=2). For inclusion in the study, staff had been employed for a minimum of six months. Across all sites, the overall length of employment with the Fire Service ranged from 4 years to 42 years and length of involvement in the FAIP ranged from 8 months to 18 years. The distribution of programme staff interviews by ethnicity and gender are shown in Table 4.

Table 4: Distribution of Programme Staff Interviews by Ethnicity and Gender

	Total	Gender		Ethni	city
	Interviewed	Male	Female	Pakeha	Maori
Arapawa	2	1	1	2	-
Auckland	4	4	-	3	1
Eastern	5	4	1	3	2
Northland	3	3	-	3	-
Transalpine	4	2	2	4	-
Western	5	4	1	5	-
TOTAL	23	18	5	20	3

Adolescent clients

Following discussion with Fire Service staff and members of the research team it was agreed that a sample size of 12 participants at each of the following sites; Auckland, Eastern and Transalpine would be considered appropriate. Of the 12 participants, it was anticipated that 6 participants would be clients who were initially *resistant* to Fire Service intervention and 6 who were open and *engaged* during the Fire Service intervention. Participants were considered to be *engaged* if they presented as motivated and interested to learn at the time of the intervention. Participants were considered to be *resistant* if they presented as low in motivation and disengaged from learning at the time of the intervention.

Additionally, in order to reflect the proportion of Maori clients involved in the FAIP, it was agreed that Maori participants should represent approximately one third of the total numbers interviewed at each site (n = 4). To reflect the proportion of female clients involved in FAIP, it was agreed that a minimum of one female participant should be interviewed at each site. A requirement for all participants selected was that they had to have undertaken the Fire Awareness and Intervention programme in the last 2 years.

It was not possible to reach sufficient sample sizes from the three regions Auckland, Eastern and Transalpine. As a result, adolescent clients from Northland and Western regions were invited to participate in the interviews. A total of 17 adolescent clients were recruited to participate in interviews across five programme sites, Auckland, Eastern, Northland, Transalpine and Western. The demographic details of the adolescents interviewed are given in Table 5.

Table 5: Characteristics of Adolescent Clients by Programme Site

	Total Interviewed	Total Gender		Ethnicity			Age range		
		Male	Female	Pakeha	Maori	P.I.	6-10 years	11-14 years	15-17 years
Auckland	8	8	-	5	2	1	1	6	1
Eastern	1	1	-	1	-	-	-	1	-
Northland	2	2	-	2	-	-	-	-	2
Transalpine	4	3	1	1	3	-	1	1	2
Western	2	2	-	2	-	-	1	1	-
TOTAL	17	16	1	11	5	1	3	9	5

Of the 17 adolescent clients interviewed only one was female (5%). It was not possible to recruit others as there are very small numbers of female clients referred in each of the regions and the sample represents all those who agreed to take part in the study. Nationally, female clients referred to the FAIP in the year 2006/07 represent 9% of all referrals. The sample of female clients is representative of the population of female clients engaged in the FAIP. Of the adolescent clients interviewed, 29% (n = 5) were Maori which is representative of the population of Maori clients engaged in the FAIP during the year 2006/07 (28%). The majority of clients were in the 11 to 14 years age group (53%). Adolescent clients in the 11 to 14 years age group make up 51% of all those engaged in the FAIP in the year 2006/07. Nine of the interviews were conducted face to face and eight were conducted via telephone.

Caregivers

In order to match the numbers of adolescent clients interviewed, I sought to interview 12 caregivers of children who had participated in the FAIP, at each of the following sites Auckland, Eastern and Transalpine. For inclusion in the study, the caregivers had to have a child who had been engaged in the Fire Awareness and Intervention Programme in the last 2 years. All caregivers who were connected to an adolescent who was interviewed, were contacted and asked if they would be prepared to participate in the study. To reflect the proportion of Maori clients involved in programmes, it was agreed that Maori participants should represent approximately one third of the total numbers interviewed at each site (n = 4). It was not possible to reach sufficient sample sizes from the three regions Auckland, Eastern and Transalpine. As a result, parents and caregivers from Northland and Western regions were invited to participate in the interviews. A total of 22 parents and caregivers of adolescent clients consented to participate in interviews across 5 programme sites. Table 6 shows the characteristics of caregivers across programme sites.

Table 6: Characteristics of Caregivers by Programme Site

	Total	Gender		Ethnicity			
	Interviewed	Male	Female	Pakeha	Maori	P.I.	
Auckland	10	1	9	6	3	1	
Eastern	3	-	3	2	1	-	
Northland	2	-	2	2	-	-	
Transalpine	5	-	5	3	2	-	
Western	2	-	2	2	-	-	
TOTAL	22	1	21	15	6	1	

Of the 22 parents and caregivers interviewed only one was male and it was not possible to recruit others as there are very small numbers of male caregivers who were present at the time of the intervention. Of the 22 parents interviewed 27% (n = 6) were Maori, which is representative of the population of Maori clients engaged in the FAIP during the year 2006/07 (28%). A range of caregiver roles were represented in the sample with 81% (n = 18) being biological parents, one step-parent, one foster caregiver, and two grandmothers. Ten of the interviews were conducted face to face and 12 were conducted via telephone.

External Agency Staff

The perspectives of practitioners employed by agencies who work directly with children and adolescents in a variety of areas were also of interest in this evaluation. A total of six participants from Auckland youth agencies were contacted via telephone and interviewed to ascertain the degree to which the agencies were aware of the FAIP. Participants were subsequently emailed an invitation to complete a more in depth questionnaire regarding their views of interventions with fire setters. Table 7 shows the characteristics of external agencies.

Interview Schedule development

Interview questions were derived from the research objectives and from process evaluations undertaken in the field of sexual offender treatment programme effectiveness (Geary & Lambie, 2005) and 'International interventions for children who deliberately light fires' (Haines et al., 2006). These interview questions were reviewed by members of the New Zealand Fire Service and the research team to ensure that questions remained open-ended whilst meeting the aims of the evaluation objectives.

Interview schedules for each sample group followed a similar format (see Appendices K to O). The first section of each interview schedule contained questions regarding demographic details of the participant. Subsequent sections

of interview schedules for both adolescents and caregivers contained questions directly regarding their experiences of the FAIP, with questions designed to explore strengths, weaknesses and suggestions for improvement.

Programme staff were asked a series of demographic questions followed by questions designed to explore staff perceptions of the FAIP's strengths, weaknesses and provide suggestions for improvement. Programme staff were also asked questions about training, supervision and organisational support and programme operations. Staff from external agencies were asked to provide an explanation of their core business, whether their agency provides support to adolescents who have set fires; and the extent to which they are aware of the FAIP and make referrals to the programme.

Each interview schedule contained a 'Cultural Services' section with five questions aimed at eliciting responses about the ways in which the programme meets/does not meet the cultural needs of Maori. Only Maori participants answered this section. These interview items were derived from research objectives and from process evaluations undertaken in the field of sexual offender treatment programme effectiveness (Geary & Lambie, 2005) and international interventions for children who deliberately light fires (Haines et al., 2006). Cultural consultation was sought from Piki Thomas from the Fire Service and Leainne Nathan a cultural supervisor for the Department of Corrections to ensure that the questions were culturally appropriate.

Programme description

The Fire Awareness and Intervention Programme, was started in 1992 in Auckland. The need for a targeted intervention grew out of the increasing number of referrals received by the NZFS from community health organisations, who had been reporting fires that were lit by children. The FAIP has been delivered in a total of eight fire regions of New Zealand and a national co-ordinator has been appointed for the last 10 years.

FAIP Clients

The FAIP provides intervention for children and adolescents between the ages of 3 and 17 years, their parents. Between July 2003 and November 2007, 2696 young people had received the FAIP intervention. Of these 2696 individuals, 8% were between the ages of 1 year and 5 years (n = 214), 32% were between the ages of 6 years and 10 years (n = 864), 46% were between the ages of 11 years and 14 years (n =1235), 13% were between the ages of 15 years and 17 years (n=351), and 1% were18 years and older (adults) (n = 31). Sixty-eight percent of clients identified themselves as Caucasian (n = 1842), 25% identified as Maori (n = 685), 4% identified as Pacific Islander (n = 116), and 2% as Asian or other ethnicity (n = 53).

Twenty-seven percent of clients cited boredom (n = 724) and 25% cited experiment (n = 682) as the most common motivation for their behaviour. Another 25% of clients were unable to identify a motivation for their behaviour (n = 680). Ten percent of clients stated that they had a diagnosis of Attention Deficit Disorder (n = 258), 2% stated that they had been diagnosed with Depression (n = 44), 1% had been diagnosed with Anxiety Disorder (n = 22) and 1% were diagnosed with Conduct Disorder (n = 25). Thirty-three percent of clients stated that they had 'multiple problems' (i.e. anger, anxiety, depression, hyperactivity and suicidal/self harm behaviours). Ninety-four percent of clients reported to have understood what they had done (n = 2527), and 11% reported to have deliberately lit the fire (n = 296).

Intervention process

The New Zealand Fire Service 'Best Practice Guidelines' outline the following process for delivering the intervention. The Regional co-ordinator is responsible for allocating the case to a practitioner within 2 days of receiving the referral. In regions where there is a sufficient amount of practitioners, two practitioners will respond to the referral. The practitioner will make initial contact via telephone with the parent/caregiver to arrange a time to make a home visit, provide an overview of the intervention and explain the consent process. Best practice states that this process should occur within three days of receipt of the referral. Best practice further stipulates that the intervention will be delivered within ten days.

During the initial visit, the FAIP practitioner will introduce the programme and develop rapport with the child and their caregivers. The practitioner will then explain the limits of confidentiality and gain written consent from the caregivers. Caregivers are then asked to sign an additional consent form at the conclusion of the intervention which confirms their presence during the intervention and their satisfaction with what occurred.

Once consent has been obtained, the practitioner completes the Screening Profile Interview Questionnaire (see Appendix Q). The Screening Profile questionnaire contains demographic information such as age, ethnicity, questions related to fire lighting behaviour. Additionally, there are questions related to mental health history, presentation of other antisocial behaviours and referrals to other support agencies. Information drawn from the Screening Profile aids the practitioner in formulating a strategy for intervention which is matched to the client's developmental level and attends to any additional needs they may have.

Following completion of the Screening Profile, the practitioner will deliver the fire safety education component. The practitioner uses resources such as pictures of structural fires, DVD's and workbooks to raise awareness about the dangerous consequences of unsafe fire use, the speed of fire, and to develop fire safety awareness. Rewards such as badges, stickers, certificates and star charts can

be used to reinforce behaviour change and abstinence from fire setting. Resources are selected by the practitioner according the age and developmental level of the client. In conclusion, the practitioner will invite both the child and caregiver to undertake a fire home safety assessment. Adolescents and their caregivers are supported to design an escape plan together, and note a safe meeting place in case of a fire. Other tasks include identifying and removing potential fire hazards, testing any existing smoke detectors to ensure they are working and if necessary, installing smoke detectors.

At the conclusion of the intervention, the practitioner will arrange to make a follow-up visit to the family. The purpose of the follow-up visit is to review any homework and assess whether behaviour change (fire setting abstinence) has been maintained. At this stage further appointments for follow-up can be made with the family to provide additional fire education. If no further follow-up is required, the young person is provided with a certificate of completion.

The final stage of the intervention is the issuing of a follow-up letter, three months after the programme has been completed. The letter requests feedback from the caregiver about the young person's progress and their satisfaction with the programme.

FAIP Staff

FAIP is lead by a National Co-ordinator who works closely alongside a National Steering Group. There is a national administrator who is responsible for collating national statistics for the programme. There are co-ordinators, administrative support and practitioners in each of the eight fire regions. Seven of the regional co-ordinators are employed on a part-time basis and there are two full time FAIP co-ordinators (Transalpine and Northland). Most practitioners are employed as part-time FAIP practitioners and also work as fire safety officers or operational fire fighters. Two Clinical Psychologists act as consultants to the FAIP and are available to advise the practitioners with regard to referrals and clients who present with complex needs.

Staff training

FAIP staff participate in a week long induction and training programme. The training covers; child development and typologies of children who light fires; communication skills (development of rapport); ethics, (limits of confidentiality); assessment (The Screening Profile); fire safety education (resources); legislation and referral to specialist services. Following formal training, new practitioners have the opportunity to accompany experienced colleagues and observe interventions.

In 2005 the first FAIP Conference was held. This has become an annual event, providing practitioners the opportunity to network; share best practice, and hear guest speakers on a variety of topics relevant to developing their practice.

Stakeholders such as Child Youth and Family Services (CYFS), and Consultant Clinical Psychologists of the FAIP have conducted workshops at the FAIP conferences. Best practice guidelines state that supervision will be provided for FAIP staff at 6 monthly intervals.

FAIP Stakeholders

Stakeholders of the FAIP include Child, Youth and Family Services (CYFS), Police, Drug and Alcohol treatment agencies, schools, Youth Offending and Mental Health agencies and the public. A formal arrangement has been made between CYFS and the New Zealand Fire Service which outlines a clear procedure and guidelines for the referral process between the agencies.

Referral Sources

Nationally between July 2003 and November 2007, the majority of referrals to the FAIP were received from the family members (26%). Referrals are also received from Police (18%), Schools (16%), New Zealand Fire Service (15%) and Youth Aid (13%). The NZFS will acknowledge receipt of any referral made to them by an external agency and provide that agency with information regarding the outcomes as outlined in the NZFS 'Best practice Guidelines'.

Referrals to Stakeholders

When clients who are referred to the FAIP present with complex needs beyond the scope of programme, referrals to external agencies are made. Nationally between July 2003 and November 2007, 2% of clients were referred by FAIP staff to counselling services, 2% to the Police and 1% were referred to mental health agencies. Practitioners are able to assist clients to identify appropriate community services for further support. In cases where FAIP practitioners suspect that a child is at risk of abuse or neglect, they are mandated to make an immediate referral to CYFS. Between July 2003 and November 2007, 1% of all clients engaged in the FAIP were referred to social welfare agencies. Additionally, Clinical Psychologists employed by the NZFS are available to support high risk clients who may require further therapeutic intervention to address their needs.

Cultural Services

The promotion and development of fire safety programmes in Maori communities in New Zealand is undertaken by four Iwi Liaison officers, and a National Maori Advisor. There is no formal provision for cultural supervision within the NZFS policy however these individuals provide support and guidance on cultural issues across the eight fire regions in New Zealand.

Evaluating Outcomes

The FAIP has been operating in New Zealand for 16 years however no process or outcome evaluation has been undertaken in that time. The FAIP records only those children and adolescents who set another fire within one year as recidivists. If the child sets a fire one year post intervention they are regarded as a 'new client' and a new file is established. As an additional measure of success, the Fire Service relies upon responses from parents to a voluntary feedback form which is provided to parents at the conclusion of the intervention.

Results

Consumer Perspectives

Adolescents and parents as consumers of the Fire Awareness and Intervention Programme have different experiences of the intervention to those who manage or deliver the intervention programme. For this reason, adolescents and parent/caregiver perspectives are reported separately to staff and stakeholder perspectives. Separation of participant's responses allows for unique perspectives to be presented and retained. Presented in this section are adolescents', parents' and caregivers' perspectives regarding the Fire Awareness and Intervention Programme. Specifically this section will focus on participants contact with the Fire Service, engagement in the programme and aspects of the programme which they believe facilitated change. Adolescents and caregivers are referred to as 'participants' in this section as they participated in the FAIP evaluation interviews. Themes and sub-themes are highlighted and examples of participant's responses are included.

Time lapse between Fire Service intervention and feedback

For inclusion into the study adolescent, parents and caregiver participants had to have completed the intervention within the last 2 years. The time lapse between completing the FAIP and participating in the evaluation interviews ranged from 3 months to 19 months with a mean time of 8 months.

Level and continuity of intervention service provision is positive

Adolescents, parents and caregivers reported a variety of levels of intervention provided to them by the Fire Service. Interventions included; one practitioner providing one visit, to one practitioner providing six visits, or two practitioners providing one visit, to two practitioners providing six visits. In most cases, caregivers and adolescents stated they were satisfied with the level of contact and continuity of service: "it was good the same one coming... they did offer a follow-up and I declined". In one case, a male and female practitioner conducted 3 separate visits and was received positively by the caregiver: "that was really good, because you get both male and female perspectives".

Fire Awareness and Intervention Programme

Adolescents, parents and caregivers were asked to describe their experiences of the FAIP with specific focus on what worked well and what could be improved (for specific questions see Appendices K and L).

What works well?

Participants were asked to describe their experiences of the FAIP and in particular reference to what they felt worked well about the programme. In response to the enquiry "What works well?" both caregivers and adolescents generated responses which fell into the same four distinct themes; practitioner qualities, programme content, programme resources and fire service contact.

Practitioner qualities facilitate the development of a sound therapeutic relationship.

Both caregivers and adolescents cited the non-judgemental and non-threatening, empathetic approach of practitioners as something which encouraged their engagement in the intervention: "X was able to open up to the fire guy", "they made X feel special" and from adolescents: "I was scared about his visit at first but he asked me questions, then it was ok, not scary". More specifically parents and caregivers appreciated the "calm and capable" presentation of the FAIP staff who delivered the programme without punishment or judgement.

Programme content raises awareness and educates participants

Both caregivers and adolescents reported that the home safety assessment and education components of the intervention had a significant impact in raising their awareness of fire safety. In particular, discussions raised awareness about the consequences of unsafe fire use, ranging from loss of material possessions to the loss of life. Parent sand caregivers reported the impact of discussions "brought home the seriousness of the behaviour", "the stories were real and worked", while adolescents described the impact of discussions; "I learnt a big lesson" and "its good teaching people not to light fires". Participants felt that education about the science of fire, the speed at which it spreads and the potential to cause damage raised awareness in young people that had thus far been lacking.

The practical home safety component of the intervention was well received by both caregivers and adolescents. The home safety component involved developing fire escape plans and checking or installing smoke alarms. By using a collaborative approach with the adolescents and giving them responsibility for checking the smoke alarms, practitioners empowered the participants to ensure their future safety: "they taught me a lot about fire safety by doing an escape plan and showing us where smoke alarms should be", "it was cool, they gave my mum a smoke alarm and they gave them to our neighbours too!". The reinforcing nature of homework was a provision that parents and caregivers appreciated: "it made us discuss it as a family" and additionally, homework was positively received by adolescent participants: "they gave me homework which I liked, it was mostly easy though".

Programme resources are an effective education tool

Most participants noted that the resources had a significant impact and were highly effective in demonstrating the seriousness and consequences of fire lighting behaviour. Parents stated: "showing X the pictures made him take it seriously". In particular, reactions of adolescent participants to pictures depicting structural fires and/or burn victims, and DVD's showing the speed of fire were effusive: "those picture were severe...serious", "I was shocked at how quick fire spreads... that Bradford stadium was shocking". Most adolescent participants noted that the workbooks provided effective reinforcement for fire safety information that had been previously taught in school: "good revision for stuff we have done at school". Additional resources such as star charts, caps and certificates of completion provided reinforcement for successful completion of learning objectives and were well received by the majority of participants.

Contact with the Fire Service is a positive experience

Overall, participants reported appreciation for the service they received from the Fire Service, specifically noting the level of information provided to them about the programme, and confidential nature of the service: "they didn't park near the house". Caregivers felt supported by frequent and prompt communication: "The Fire Service called ahead, kept us informed", "prompt service (within a day)...and left a business card, they said call anytime".

Summary of what works well

Many positive comments were received from caregivers and adolescents regarding the FAIP practitioners' ability to engage and develop rapport as a basis from which to conduct the intervention. Many noted that the content may not have bee addressed had it not been for the patience of the practitioner in engaging the young person. The findings suggest that the biggest impact upon caregivers and adolescents in raising awareness of the dangers of unsafe fire use came from the content and resources that were employed. In particular, the use of the visual aids (DVD/pictures of structural fires and dead people) gave further substance to discussions regarding the dangerous consequences of unsafe fire use. Finally, caregivers were grateful for the prompt and confidential support service which was provided by the New Zealand Fire Service.

What aided learning?

Adolescents and caregivers were asked to comment more specifically on which features of the programme aided learning. Again, the responses of adolescents paralleled that of caregiver participants and fell into three themes; practitioner qualities, programme content and programme resources. Additionally adolescent participants noted the importance of parental support.

Practitioner qualities facilitate the development of a sound therapeutic relationship

The skills of the practitioner in their ability to relate to the clients and present programme content in a way that was easy to understand featured prominently in both adolescent and caregivers responses. Parents and caregivers noted the practitioner's willingness to engage with and understand their child: "he was a young guy so he was able to relate to X" and "they tried to understand where X was coming from... there was no telling off". Adolescents appreciated the information being presented in a way that was easy to understand and noted: "the guy was nice to me, helped me understand".

Programme content raises awareness about consequences of fire play

There were many references to the positive impact of discussions regarding the dangerous consequences of fire. Parents and caregivers felt that these discussions were important in raising awareness about the dangerousness of fire, an aspect that they believed their children had not considered prior to the intervention. Adolescents stated that the discussions: "told me what it could be like if I was to do it again" and the resulting impact of discussions on adolescents: "encouraged me not to do it again". Additionally, caregivers felt that the 'one to one' contact with their children had been helpful and noted that the programme duration was appropriate to hold the their children's attention. In terms of specific content, adolescent respondents stated that they had enjoyed the task of creating an escape plan and appreciated getting smoke detectors installed "doing a fire escape plan and getting fire alarms was good".

Programme resources reinforce safety messages

Overall adolescent and caregiver participants engaged with the visual resources employed by the FAIP practitioners. Participants noted that the pictures and DVD's had a significant impact in raising their awareness of the impact of fire setting behaviour: "the ones [pictures] of dead people and skin grafts had huge impact", and "those pictures made me think about how severe it all is", "the videos and DVD's were surprising and shocking". Caregivers also stated that they felt the workbooks given to their children were age appropriate and that giving star charts, certificates and a fire badge reinforced the positive work achieved in the workbooks or during the intervention.

Parental involvement is supportive

Additional comments made by adolescent participants conveyed an appreciation of the presence of their caregiver for support during the intervention: "having mum there helped, she explained stuff to me".

Summary of what aided learning

In response the question, "What aided learning?" the dominant theme was again the ability of the practitioner to develop rapport and engage the young person and their family. Both adolescents and caregivers appreciated the time that was spent on building a relationship from the outset and many note that without this, the content would not have been addressed. Again, both caregivers and adolescents stated that it was the use of resources which gave life to the educational content, and this supported learning. Finally, adolescent participants stated that the presence of a caregiver had supported them to learn the fire safety content that was presented to them.

What could be improved?

In response to the enquiry "What could be improved?" many caregivers and adolescents were emphatic in their responses and stated that they believed nothing could be improved, they were very satisfied with the service they had received: "a lovely job", "no need for improvement". Parents also conveyed a sense of feeling very grateful for the support and intervention: "just what we needed at the time", "I was just so grateful that they came". Adolescent participants were frequently even more emphatic: "It was super super good". Those participants who did offer suggestions for improvement, generated responses which fell into four distinct themes; programme content, programme resources, early intervention by the Fire Service and information sharing between agencies.

Programme content should be tailored appropriately

Comments from a small number of adolescents and caregivers suggested that at times the programme content was not appropriate to perceived level of need. They further stated that the content could have been tailored more appropriately to age, taking into account existing levels of knowledge. A few caregivers indicated that their expectations about the level of intervention had not been met: "It was just a chat, I was under the impression it would have been more of an intervention" and further stated that the content had not been pitched at the appropriate age level: "It was aimed at primary school level and X is 15 years old...those star charts are completely inappropriate; those are for kids, he is 15, how insulting is that?". One caregiver felt that completing an escape plan did not add educational value to what they provided as parents: "X did the escape plan but we are teachers and we do this every time we move anyway". Some adolescent participants also stated that the content was: "boring, repetitive, stuff I have done at school".

Programme resources should be carefully targeted and additional resources added

While many adolescents and parents cited the programme resources as strengths of the intervention, some participants noted that resources were not used and reflected that had they been used, this may have aided learning: "No DVD's were shown to us, that would have been helpful", "I didn't see DVD's that would have been good", "I didn't get a workbook…didn't do an escape plan".

Conversely, when resources were used, some participants felt that the resources were not appropriate to age or developmental level: "the workbooks were too easy for X...could have been a bit harder", one adolescent participant stated: "they were way too easy, they only took me five minutes to do". Another caregiver indicated that they would have appreciated more time to look at the resources: "we only looked at pictures for five minutes, we could have had them longer".

There were some negative responses from adolescent participants who indicated that the resources were unappealing: "the DVD was boring... how fast a chair can burn", and "the pictures ok but not too scary". Where additional resources were suggested by participants, adolescents' suggestions were reward based: "bring lollies", "bring fire truck for a ride", whereas caregiver responses suggested alternative resources for education purposes: "seeing a burnt out house, to walk in it and to smell it is different to two-dimensional pictures and may have better impact", "include a visit a fire station, some children might be fascinated by fire trucks and start a fire to see one", "have programmes in school for 13 and 14 year olds".

Early intervention and follow-up by the Fire Service is key

Parents and caregivers indicated appreciation for the service they received but stated that it would have been helpful if support had been provided earlier: "contact in the first instance would have been helpful, this is X's 3rd fire". Both caregivers and adolescents identified that a follow-up visit would have been helpful in order to reinforce learning: "workbooks were done and they never returned to collect them/check them", one adolescent indicated that they had anticipated a follow-up visit for months after the initial visit: "no one came back to check my books and I carried them around for months just in case".

Information sharing between agencies is helpful

One caregiver made additional comments regarding the lack of information sharing between community agencies and the Fire Service. This caregiver understood the limits imposed on agency's ability to share confidential file information however they felt it would have be useful for the Fire Service to receive this information: "school didn't share much with Fire Service due to privacy laws but would have helped to inform the Fire Service that X has Autism".

Summary of what could be improved

Whilst many participants emphatically stated that there was nothing that could be improved in the FAIP, a few participants were able to make recommendations for aspects which could be modified. In some instances resources were not used and responses from adolescents and caregivers suggested that they would have appreciated the use of resources to support learning. In other cases, adolescents and caregivers identified that content and resources could have been tailored more appropriately to age and level of need. Both caregivers and adolescents indicated that although FAIP homework had been completed, the practitioner did not provide a follow-up visit in order to check the homework. This had left adolescents and caregivers feeling disappointed and frustrated. Finally, caregivers felt that information sharing between agencies was not sufficient and could be improved in order to support the Fire Service in planning and tailoring the intervention, to suit the needs of the consumer.

Did the Fire Service respond to any special needs?

Parents and caregivers were asked if the FAIP practitioner responded to any special treatment needs that their child has. The responses clearly indicated that the practitioners responded in a sensitive manner to any special needs.

The FAIP practitioners are responsive to special treatment needs

Parents and caregivers were asked whether their child had any special treatment needs which the Fire Service addressed within the FAIP. While many of the participants stated that their child did not have additional treatment needs, others whose children did have special needs, provided accounts of how the practitioners had adapted content and delivery style to suit the child's particular needs.

Many of the caregivers stated that their child had a diagnosis of Autism or Aspergers Syndrome, which they stated the practitioner has addressed by using primarily "visual aids", "kept it short and to the point" and "used simple language". One caregiver emphatically stated: "X has a really short attention span and he was absolutely captivated, that was all down to the way it was put across".

Other participants made positive comments regarding the way that the FAIP practitioner had supported their child with regard to peer pressure: "I know they talked about how to say no to friends" and "they talked about alternatives to being the ring leader".

Summary of the Fire Service response to special needs

Approximately 30% of parents and caregivers reported that their child was diagnosed with Autism or Aspergers Syndrome (n = 6). Reponses from these parents and caregivers indicated that the FAIP practitioner had done the utmost to adapt the timing, style and content to suits the needs of participants with additional needs. Other parents who children did not have a specialised diagnosis reported that the practitioner demonstrated a willingness to address their child's additional needs as relevant to the fire setting behaviour.

Cultural needs

One of the key aims of this evaluation was to determine the extent to which FAIP met the needs of adolescents and their families. Maori adolescents represent almost one third of the total number of referrals made to FAIP annually, thus the inclusion of Maori perspectives regarding programme effectiveness was seen as crucial to the evaluation. All adolescent and caregiver participants who identified as Maori (n = 11), were asked a series of questions designed to illicit the degree to which they felt the FAIP met their cultural needs.

The programme meets the cultural needs of families

The majority of participants stated that the practitioners and programme content met their cultural needs "Yes, as much is required... there was something in the workbook about fires dug in the ground", and only one participant stated to the contrary: "No, it didn't but I don't see how culture is involved anyway, it's nothing to do with being Maori". There was general agreement that although a specialist cultural assessment was not undertaken, practitioners were sensitive to issues of cultural difference. Some participants were unable to detail exactly how this presented: "they were definitely culturally aware and sensitive but there were no special actions or behaviours, just a sense I got". Others were able to be more detailed: "he asked our ethnicity and tribe" and further:

"Yes, at every stage they asked our permission to do certain activities, he took his shoes off, he asked if there was anywhere that was off limits in our house we appreciated that".

When asked to detail any aspects of Maori culture they would appreciate being included in the programme, most participants stated that there was nothing that they could identify from a cultural perspective which would have enhanced the programme: "Nothing, I only expect Tikanga practices in certain circumstances, not this". Another participant stated: "we did karakia before he arrived anyway". Only one participant provided recommendations for inclusion:

"It would be very important, if they used Te Reo to get the pronunciation right... it would be awesome if a European came into my house and used a Maori fable like 'Maui and the fingers of fire' to illustrate the safe use of fire".

Summary of Fire Service response to cultural needs

Many participants stated that they did not strongly identify as Maori and thus did not wish to have a cultural component added to the programme, and or/ they were not able to detail aspects of culture that they would like to see added to the existing programme due to lack of awareness. Additionally, many stated that culture was not relevant as fire setting transcended culture and indicated that the programme addressed all the relevant needs of their child. One participant suggested that incorporating Te Reo would be appropriate if the pronunciation was accurate and further stated that there may be a place to incorporate Maori myths and legends into the education component.

Conclusions

The findings show that parents, caregivers and adolescents consider the FAIP to be a positive and supportive experience. Participants were asked a series of questions designed to elicit responses regarding the strengths of the programme and aspects which could be improved. The responses to interview questions generated themes and sub-themes which were frequently common to both caregivers and adolescents.

Aspects of the FAIP which participants identified as strengths included: practitioner qualities, programme content and programme resources. However these aspects were also perceived by participants to be those which could be improved. Participants indicated that the skill and patience of practitioners to engage with young people and develop rapport was a key strength under pinning the programme. They further believed that without rapport, the educational component of the programme would not have been addressed. Additionally, the majority of responses indicated that the educational content of the programme combined with the use of visual resources, had a significant impact in raising awareness of the dangers of unsafe fire use for both caregivers and adolescents.

Although there was general agreement that the FAIP was a positive experience, participants offered suggestions for improvement which included: practitioner qualities, programme content and programme resources. Those participants, who identified areas for improvement in the programme, stated that they had experienced a mis-match between the content delivered and/or the resources used compared to the developmental age and level of need of their child.

With regard to the cultural services provided by the FAIP, the majority of participants indicated that there cultural needs had been met to the extent of their expectations and knowledge. Many reported to not strongly identify with Maori

culture which may explain why so few recommendations were made for improvements in service delivery. One participant did however offer suggestions for improving the cultural services of the FAIP including; delivery the programme by incorporating Te Reo and using Maori myths and legends to deliver the fire safety message.

While there were very few negative comments made about participants' experiences of the FAIP, the possibility that interview data was distorted by reporting biases cannot be ruled out. This is discussed in greater detail later.

Staff Perspectives

This section examines the Fire Awareness and Intervention Programme primarily from the perspectives of the Fire Awareness and Intervention Programme (FAIP) staff including; Regional Co-ordinators, Practitioners and Training staff. FAIP staff are referred to as 'participants' in this section as they participated in the FAIP evaluation interviews. Participants were asked a broad range of questions designed to elicit their views about programme strengths and weaknesses, successes and failures, what works well and what could be improved. Participants were also asked more specific questions regarding programme operations.

Key characteristics of the Fire Awareness and Intervention Programme

Programme staff were asked to describe what they felt the key characteristics of the programme were and responses fell into five distinct categories; outcomes based,

Practitioner qualities, Fire Service reputation, flexible use of resources and reaching out to families.

FAIP is perceived to work

Participants were very effusive in describing the outcomes of FAIP as key characteristics of the programme: "we have success that can be measured", "the FAIP serves the community, offers remedy and early intervention". Participants felt strongly that FAIP works because it brings about behaviour change beyond reducing fire setting although many stated that it was the decreasing recidivism rate that was a key characteristic of the programme.

Practitioner qualities facilitate the development of a sound therapeutic relationship

Fire Service staff felt that a key characteristic of the FAIP was the recruitment of passionate, patient, open minded individuals. Many comments suggested that a practitioner's ability to engage the children and families in a "non threatening/non judgemental manner", "not like a psychologist who is always forming opinions" was essential. Programme staff stated that practitioner empathy was a key characteristic of the programme and that this facilitated rapport building with the families. Many stated that it was the collaborative approach of practitioners which empowered families to ensure their future safety when using fire.

The Fire Service staff are well respected and credible educators

Many participants reported that fire fighters are well respected in the community, which enabled them to develop a rapport with families: "we are really trading on the good perception of Fire Service by the public", "we have a reputation for being credible and confidential", we are the good guys you know, not like the way people feel about Police!"

Several participants reported that delivering the programme wearing Fire Service uniform was an important aspect of the programme. Participants felt that the uniform is imbued with a sense of respect and further that it: "transforms the way people listen to you". Participants stated that they believed FAIP practitioners acted as positive role models for children who often lacked this influence in their life; "there is a positive benefit alone, just from spending time with children who don't get much in life".

Many spoke of the importance of an education based intervention with central components including the discussion of consequences: "we talk to them about the other side of fire that no-one else sees-the consequences of insurance costs, and Dad's being sued", which they claimed had the effect of encouraging adolescents to take responsibility for their actions. Most participants stated that using real life anecdotes helped establish them as credible educators who were able to provide education from a position of authority which adolescents accepted: "delivered by blokes who have been there".

A flexible approach to using programme resources is important

The ability to tailor the programme to meet the needs of the family and having access to resources that they could "pick and choose from" was highlighted as a key characteristic of the programme. Many Fire Service staff commented on the need to adapt the delivery style, content and use of resources to suit the age and developmental level of the participant: "workbooks have a great impact for some… others we use pictures to get the message across".

Bringing the programme to families is effective

Participants frequently stated that providing a free service to "those in need" was a key strength of the programme: "we offer a helping hand to parents in distress, who are lost about what to do with their child... and we are free". The intervention is typically delivered in the home of the family. By reaching out to families in their environment they feel more comfortable and perceive the Fire Service as less threatening: "we go to them, we are not institution based so they feel comfortable". Ultimately when participants feel comfortable, they are more willing and able to engage with the intervention.

Finally, many participants mentioned that it was the 'one to one' aspect of the intervention that was a key strength. Although parents and caregivers involvement is regarded as essential, questions are always directed towards the adolescent. It was clearly felt by Fire Service staff that delivering the intervention to individuals as opposed to a group setting enabled the programme to be tailored to the individual's needs and was thus the most effective mode of delivering the educational intervention.

Summary of staff perceptions of the FAIP's key characteristics

Programme staff identified 5 themes in describing the key characteristics of the FAIP. There was strong agreement that a practitioners' ability to convey empathy and establish trust was a key aspect of the programme and further that it encouraged the development of rapport with families. The participants also highlighted the ability of the Fire Service to reach out to families in their homes and provide an intervention as a major strength of the programme. They stated that visiting families at home allowed those in need to receive support in circumstances which they may not otherwise be able to access it. Finally, there was strong agreement that delivering an education based intervention which involved the discussion of the consequences of unsafe fire use was essential. Participants felt that these discussions were brought to life by the flexible use of resources and the use of first hand anecdotes from fire fighters.

What is most effective in stopping deliberate fire setting?

In recognition of the unique perspective the Fire Service staff have in relation to children and families, staff were asked to detail what they believe to be most effective in stopping this behaviour. In total, five themes were identified.

Practitioner qualities facilitate the development of a sound therapeutic relationship

Again participants highlighted the need for practitioners to be highly skilled and well trained in order to develop rapport and engage the adolescent participants. Comments also reflected the importance of "demonstrating empathy and understanding", taking a "non judgemental", "straight talking approach". One participant detailed how they engage a young person "I try to find the hook, something they care about then I talk about the consequences of their behaviour for that person". Participants also noted that importance of having the skills and ability to tailor the programme to the young person's need and developmental level "you have to think on your feet a bit and work out where they are at, tailor it to that".

An Education based programme is essential

Comments from many participants highlighted the need for interventions to be education based, "teaching fire safety really works". One participant noted that importance of educating parents and caregivers in the intervention and further stated that the majority of young people did not report to have set fires deliberately: "they often don't do it deliberately-they are opportunistic so we teach parents to remove the opportunity".

Central to the education component of the intervention is the discussion of the dangerous consequences of fire play. Participants stated that discussion of consequences encourages young people to see their behaviour in a broader context: "I talk about the possibility of injuries and the impact on their siblings... something they can relate to". Further, this approach encourages young people to take responsibility for the future safety of themselves and their family: "we encourage them to see that they are the authors of their own future". Again, many participants highlighted that 'what works' is having an education based intervention which is delivered face to face by Fire Fighters in uniform as this lends support and credibility to the content being delivered.

Programme resources are effective if up to date and age appropriate

Using visual aids such as videos/DVD's and pictures was regarded as an effective way to convey safety messages however most participants noted that they would appreciate up to date resources: "Videos and DVD's are effective but our resources need updating". Additionally it was noted that the use of available resources needs to be flexible, ensuring that they are age appropriate: "games are good for young ones", "using real life anecdotes helps them to see that the danger is real", "star charts motivate the little ones".

High quality, early intervention service is crucial

Many responses indicated that in order to stop deliberate fire setting, education about the dangerous consequences of fire should begin in schools at the earliest opportunity and be followed up with FAIP intervention, delivered by the Fire Service to families in their home. Participants believed that the Fire Service maintained its "good reputation" for intervention because "we say what we do and doing what we say" and this has the effect of "putting parent's minds at ease".

The Fire Service cannot do it alone!

Many responses indicated awareness that the FAIP staff are not solely responsible for ensuring behaviour change. Participants were mindful that interventions to change behaviour work best when the young person is engaged and motivated to change and when the young person has "a supportive home environment... that is the key really, otherwise it all gets undone". Many participants also recognised that in cases where the young person's level of need was beyond the scope of Fire Service intervention, interagency co-operation is the key to supporting behaviour change.

Summary of what was perceived to most effective in stopping deliberate fire setting

A high quality, early intervention service was seen as critical to ensure success in stopping deliberate fire setting. Again the ability of the practitioners' to engage and develop rapport with families prior to delivering the education component of the intervention was seen as critical factor. As previously mentioned, participants stated that the use of resources to give life to the educational content is successful but noted that they need to be kept contemporary and used as appropriate to age and developmental level. What is least effective in stopping deliberate fire setting?

Many of the participants had difficulty identifying what is least effective in stopping deliberate fire setting and many emphatically stated: "nothing that we are currently doing!" In spite of the difficulty many participants had in shifting perspective away from solution focussed, three distinct themes emerged.

Punitive Practitioner approach is not effective

Some participants stated that caregivers had told the young person that the Fire Service was coming to punish them, an approach which could seriously hinder the development of rapport between the young person and practitioner: "parents have asked me to give their child a good clout around the ears... I told them that was not what I was here for"; "I'm not there to kick butt even though it's what the parents want". Clearly participants believed that a punitive approach was not effective: "shouting/yelling/authoritarian approach doesn't work", "we don't do bullying and scaring".

Programme content and resources must match age and level of need

Practitioners noted that the current content may not be appropriate for young people with more complex or additional behavioural needs; "Education alone won't work for hard end cases" and "written material alone doesn't shift knowledge into action". Again the importance of matching resources to the young persons age and developmental ability was raised: "the stories we read them are not relevant to all age groups", "what is the point of using workbooks if they can't read, we need to try another resource", "I'm not convinced of the effectiveness of the photos of dead bodies/burnt houses". Practitioners recognised that in cases where content and resources are poorly matched to the age and ability of the young person, a likely outcome is disinterest and disengagement in the process.

Lack of action or support for intervention is ineffective in stopping fire setting

Many participants stated that at the community level: "doing nothing...no education regarding the consequences of fire lighting"; "ignoring and turning a blind eye" is obviously ineffective in stopping fire setting. On an organisational level, participants stated that there was a lack of promotion of the FAIP and that promotion was crucial to ensure its long term viability and success in stopping deliberate fire setting: "if we aren't out there, how will they know to access our support?" Reflecting previous comments about the importance of parental support, participants stated that if parents don't support the intervention by providing the necessary co-operation and reinforcement, long term behaviour change may not occur.

Summary of what was perceived to least effective in stopping deliberate fire setting

There was general agreement that the most ineffective course of action in attempting to stop deliberate fire setting would be to take no action at all. Other comments indicated a general agreement that a punitive approach to intervention would not result in successful outcomes. Finally, comments suggested that where practitioners fail to appropriately match content and resources to the participant's age and developmental level, a likely outcome is disengagement from the content thereby reducing the effectiveness of the intervention.

Programme factors which are critical for success

Participants were asked to recall a young person who had 'done well on the programme' that is: a young person who had engaged with the content, completed the tasks and subsequently ceased unsafe fire play. Participants were asked to identify which programme factors they believed to be responsible for the success in this case. Overall, five distinct themes emerged: practitioner skills and approach, practitioner training and development, education based intervention, use of programme resources and parental support.

Practitioner skill and approach determines success

Again, it was the approach taken by the practitioner in delivering the educational content that was seen as critical to the success of the intervention. Approaching the intervention in a "non judgemental manner", "demonstrating empathy and understanding", helped the practitioner relate to and engage the young person "we get on their wave length and try to understand their world". In spite of parents and caregivers requests for the FAIP staff to punish their children, participants felt strongly that this approach would not be appropriate or successful and stated that a "respectful, non threatening approach" worked best. Many participants stated that success they could recall was attributable to them providing a one to one intervention with the young person and taking a collaborative approach: "as opposed to coming into their house and telling them what to do, judging them". Some participants highlighted that their success during the intervention was due in part to the mere act of "spending time with children who don't get much…doing it for the right reasons".

Practitioner training and development is crucial

Many talked at length about the recruitment and training of practitioners with "the right qualities... nurturing them". Participants felt strongly that practitioners who have the necessary passion for behaviour change, understanding and empathy were being actively recruited in the Fire Service. Further, participants felt that practitioners who possessed these personal qualities were critical for the success of the programme and must be supported and developed "we need training at the 2^{nd} and 3^{rd} level, encouragement to go further". Concerns were raised that in order to maintain the passion and drive for programme delivery, practitioners need to be supported with: "training opportunities for ongoing development and up-skilling". It was of concern to several participants that "only the self motivated do study...this should be driven nationally".

Education based intervention which is flexible has a positive impact

Many participants attributed the success they had experienced with young people to the provision of education based intervention with the biggest impact coming from discussions regarding the consequences of unsafe fire play. Several participants stated that their ability to speak credibly from direct experience about the consequences of fire had a significant impact on young people. One participant stated that it was the flexibility of the content which permitted them to address other related concerns from the young person. The practitioner stated that having the ability to address concerns such as peer pressure motivated fire play had contributed to the success of the intervention in this instance: "I just tried to impress upon him that he is the author of his own future and discussed the consequences of being lead by the group". Another participant stated that having the flexibility to deviate from the order of the questions on the screening profile was positive and facilitated greater rapport building with young people "rather than robotically ask each question in order, I just use it as a quide, a tool".

Programme resources engage participants

Resources were seen as useful education tools by most participants which got young people engaged and interested:

"I had a young female client... she was tough, she burnt her whole house to the ground because she believed her dead mother visited her... she didn't want to do the programme but games got her engaged and eventually we got there".

There was strong agreement that the resources should be reviewed approximately every two years to ensure they are relevant to young people: "the DVD's are great but the footage is old and could be updated".

Parental engagement is crucial

When asked to identify which programme factors were critical for a young person's success on the programme, family support was clearly identified. Parents and caregivers have their needs met by the intervention as "they had somewhere to take their problem". Additionally, the involvement of parents and caregivers ensures that they receive the same fire safety message and are able to continue to reinforce the message on a daily basis, without which, long term behaviour change becomes difficult.

Summary of the programme factors which are considered critical for success

In addition to the recurring themes of practitioner skill and delivery style; education based content; and the use of resources a further two unique themes were identified as critical factors for successful outcomes; practitioner training and development; and parental engagement. Practitioner training and ongoing development was seen by participants as essential to maintain the high level of skills and motivation which enables practitioners to deliver high quality intervention. Additionally, parental support was seen as critical for the ongoing maintenance and reinforcement of learning undertaken during the FAIP. Without parental support, long term behaviour change was deemed to be difficult.

Programme factors associated with poor outcomes for clients

Participants were asked to recall a young person who had 'not done well on the programme' that is: a young person who had not engaged with the content, not completed the tasks and showed no behaviour change. Participants were asked to identify which programme factors they believed to be responsible for the poor outcome in this case. Overall two broad themes emerged: programme factors which were regarded as factors associated with the process and content of intervention delivery; and external factors which included; factors outside the

programme processes or content such as lack of parental support, gang affiliations and peer pressure.

Environmental factors contribute to poorer outcomes

The vast majority of participants indicated that it had been external factors which were responsible for any negative outcomes for the young person during and following the intervention. Participants cited influences such as a "chaotic home environment", "parents with gang affiliations", "parents not giving a consistent message" and "peer pressure" as factors which produced poorer outcomes both during and post intervention. In cases where the young person was influenced by these factors, participants felt that it was unlikely that the positive fire safety messages delivered during the FAIP would be reinforced or maintained.

Young person's additional needs and/or attitude contributes to poorer outcomes

Participants recalled interventions with young people who had presented with significant antisocial attitudes and beliefs which resulted in anger and lack of engagement from the start of the intervention "they were anti authority figures generally and viewed the Fire Service as just another intrusive agency". The presence of antisocial attitudes and beliefs in young people combined with lack of support for the Fire Service intervention from parent's results in poor outcomes such as limited or no intervention. Additionally, several participants stated that they had worked with young people who had been diagnosed with a mental health or medical condition, such as ADHD and some of whom were on medication: "which made them lethargic" and others who: "could not focus or sit still long enough" for the intervention to be conducted.

Disengagement contributes to poorer outcomes

Many participants found it difficult to identify programme factors which contributed to poorer outcomes for clients however the most frequently cited factor was the delivery style of the practitioner. There was general agreement that a practitioner who demonstrates "poor understanding", "low empathy", utilises a "rigid delivery style" or "robotically delivers the programme" will most likely result in disengaged and disinterested adolescents and families. Disengagement can also occur if the content is too difficult for the young person due to the practitioner: "pitching the content at the wrong developmental level" and workbooks can be intimidating if literacy is a difficulty. Again the need for resources to be kept up to date: "so that the kids can relate to them and not switch off" was highlighted by several participants.

Lack of intervention time and follow-up contributes to poorer outcomes

Participants identified that poorer outcomes occurred when they had not been able to conduct sufficient visits or provide adequate follow-up: "one or two visits were not enough, the family needed ongoing work". Participants felt that although they were aware of the need for additional visits to the family, they did not feel that they would gain approval or support from management to conduct the necessary visits. It was felt that the inability to provide the appropriate level of service was being driven by: "inefficiencies in the system...monitoring overtime" and "time constraints imposed by management". A clear need was identified for the Fire Service to secure additional funding to relieve financial pressure and allow full provision of the FAIP to those in need.

Referrals must be appropriate and reciprocal

Some participants stated that where there had been poor outcomes, this was due in part to the Fire Service receiving inappropriate referrals. Referrals had been received by the Fire Service where the level of need of the young person exceeded the scope of FAIP and believed that the referral was forwarded to the Fire Service as: "a box ticking exercise... also because we are free". Often young people who are referred to the FAIP have additional and complex needs with multiple agency involvement. In these cases participants felt that providing support at the same time as multiple other agencies would be: "too intense to add us as another support agency". For those adolescents and families with complex needs beyond the scope of the FAIP, the Fire Service will made referrals to external agencies.

Comments indicated that these referrals were often poorly received, even refused:

"referrals to other agencies is diabolical, X Hospital has refused Fire Service referrals to their clinical department due to their own volumes of referrals... often there is also concern over who pays for their service".

These comments highlighted a clear need for stronger inter-agency working relationships. Additionally, many participants reported that their community lacked somewhere to send families to access additional support and participants believed that this resulted in poor outcomes for children.

Summary of the programme factors perceived to be associated with poor outcomes for clients

The factors which were identified as contributing to poor outcomes for programme consumers fell into two distinct categories; programme factors and external factors. With regard to external factors, participants felt that in situations where children and adolescents were exposed to low levels of family or peer support, it was unlikely that the positive fire safety messages delivered during FAIP, would be reinforced or maintained. Additionally, the influence of gang culture and its prevailing antisocial attitudes were seen to be a negative backdrop from which to attempt to establish behaviour change in adolescents.

In terms of programme factors, comments indicated that poor outcomes begin with inappropriate referrals made to agencies as a result of mis-matching the target group to the intervention. Other comments cited the impact of practitioner's ability to engage young people; tailor the programme to match their developmental level and; level of need as moderators of successful outcomes. There was agreement that where this did not occur, poorer outcomes were a likely result. Finally, practitioner cited the intervention dosage as contributing to poorer outcomes, particularly where interventions were too short in duration.

Barriers to treatment

Participants were asked to identify any potential barriers to completing the FAIP, for five distinct target groups: children under 10-years, children over 10-years, high risk adolescents, female adolescents and ethnic minority adolescents. Participants were also asked to make suggestions about ways that these barriers could be removed for each target group to ensure greater engagement in the intervention.

Children under 10-years

The majority of participants stated that there were no barriers to children under 10-years completing the FAIP however some stated that there may be limitations to children under 4-years engaging with the FAIP due to low cognitive ability: "some are too young to understand the material, they don't need a full FAIP, we could see them on the spot and give them some promotional material".

Again, concerns were raised about the impact of using dated resources such as disengagement: "children won't identify with the resources", "pictures in the workbooks that we use for the little ones are so dated, they will not be interested in them". Suggestions to improve engagement using resources included: "a CD Rom for older kids... we have to move with the times... with technology". Suggestions were also made to develop: "additional activity books for 4-5-year-olds and one for 6-9-year-olds" as it was felt that this was a gap in the provision of resources.

Several participants identified that the need for parental consent to undertake the programme may be a barrier for children under 10-years: "unfortunately if parents don't agree we can't force them". Participants suggested that the potential barrier caused by parents not providing consent could be overcome by: "delivering the FAIP in school on a one to one basis".

Adolescents over 10-years

Again, the majority of participants indicated that there were no factors within the programme which presented barriers to adolescents over 10-years completing the programme. Some participants stated that factors external to the programme may present a barrier to completion including: peer pressure and caregiver consent, and intra-personal factors such as cognitive ability, anti-authority attitudes and beliefs may present barriers. Of these factors, peer pressure was most frequently cited as a potential barrier "if their peers give them a hard time", "it's not cool to tell your friends". Participants were mindful that adolescents over the age of 10-years are increasingly influenced by the attitudes, beliefs and actions of their peers: "often they won't open up to us because they were with friends when they lit the fire and they don't want to have to 'dob' their friends in". Additionally, participants stated that if an adolescent's support network includes peers and caregivers who hold antisocial beliefs and attitudes it is "unlikely that they will support that young person to make positive changes in their behaviour".

High risk adolescents

Many participants asked for clarification regarding characteristics of high risk adolescents. High risk adolescents were identified as those who demonstrated additional and complex behavioural needs and/or those who had recidivist fire setting behaviours. Several participants were not able to identify any factors which would prevent high risk adolescents from participating in the FAIP and some stated that they had not come into contact with any adolescents who presented as high risk. Participants who had experience and contact with high risk adolescents cited the lack of caregiver support for the programme as a major barrier.

Participants stated that motivation of high risk adolescents impacted their ability to engage with the programme and that often they presented as "disengaged from the beginning". In order to address lack of motivation and engage reluctant adolescents, participants stated that more time was spent build rapport: "maybe we just kick a ball around for a bit and talk about normal stuff not fire stuff".

Participants noted that high risk adolescents often presented with complex needs beyond the scope of Fire Service intervention "often they are on drugs and alcohol". Comments from many participants indicated an appreciation for the support provided by Consultant Clinical Psychologists Ricki Tan and Dr Ian Lambie. While there was agreement that high risk clients often required referrals to specialist support agencies, comments reflected difficulties in multi-agency

working "they often have too many agencies already involved" and/or "some agencies won't let go of clients so that we can also work with their clients...Maori immersion clients for example". There was general agreement that Inter-agency relationships could be strengthened: "both CYFS and the Fire Service are too confidential, we don't share information enough" and "everyone is silo working, we need to do more work together". One participant also suggested that the Fire Service might develop: "a better working relationship with the youth prison... but by then it might be too late?"

Female clients

The vast majority of responses indicated that they either had not encountered a female client or believed that there were no barriers to female adolescents completing the FAIP: "no, its gender neutral". Some participants raised the possibility that female consumers may have been subjected to physical, sexual or emotional abuse from males and thus may have sensitivity to working with male FAIP practitioners. Suggestions for addressing these potential barriers included: "check for abuse history and match with a female if required", "we are able to do gender matching in our region, not sure about others". One participant suggested that the FAIP programme is not appropriate to female consumers as: "our programme won't address their needs... they tend to be motivated by revenge and the programme does not deal with this".

Ethnic minority clients

The majority of participants stated that there were no barriers to ethnic minorities completing the programme. Some participants however, recognised that some minority groups may not speak English as their first language and may face difficulty in understanding the FAIP practitioners. Participants noted the lack of resources in multiple languages as a limitation of the programme.

One participant highlighted deeper implications of the impact of culture:

"some of our families come from countries and experiences in their home country where the Fire Service is aligned with Army, so we have a tough time engaging them in the intervention... they are fearful of the Fire Service because they think we are just like the Fire Service in their own country-authoritarian".

Participants identified that some ethnic minorities had links to gang cultures which were likely to negatively influence the adolescent and would not provide the support necessary to sustain behaviour change.

Summary of perceived barriers to treatment

Participant responses to identification of barriers to treatment for target groups yielded two distinct themes centred around; access to clients and engagement processes. Participants identified that gaining access to clients was often difficult and stated that barriers occurred as a result of peer pressure, lack of parental consent or other agencies refusing to release their clients for additional treatment. Suggestions for removing these barriers included; greater education in the community about the purpose and success of the FAIP; and delivering the FAIP in schools in order to gain access to the target group (children and adolescents). Other perceived barriers to intervention related to engagement with adolescents and their families. Engagement and rapport with adolescents and their families was perceived to be moderated by several factors such as: access to up to date resources including interactive, computer generated resources; gender and culture matching; cultural sensitivity and ensuring the FAIP content is matched appropriately to age and development ability.

What additional services should be added?

Participants were asked to detail what services they feel should be added to the FAIP to which the majority of responses were: "nothing should be added". Those participants, who did make suggestions, clearly indicated that current practices or services should be adapted or developed as opposed to adding new services to the FAIP: "we need to get the basics right first- national consistency, national monitoring, national co-ordination, analysis and evaluation". Four themes were identified: training and development of practitioners, provision of full-time staff, updated and flexible content and resources and greater promotion of the programme.

Training and development for Practitioners is critical

Many comments referred to the need for practitioners to have access to training and development opportunities at regular intervals: "my last training was 10 years ago". One suggestion for improvement was the provision of refresher training at regular intervals following the initial induction training. Overall there was a clear need was identified for training opportunities to be identified and driven nationally to ensure that standards of excellence in delivering interventions continued.

Referrals must be appropriately targeted

Comments from participants identified a clear need to ensure that referrals received by the FAIP were appropriate in that the FAIP was able to appropriately respond to the adolescent's level of risk and need. Participants stated that they were spending too much time responding to referrals for children or adolescents who did not require an intensive intervention: "we need to spend less time with clients who only need short sharp chat about the consequences"; "some don't need the full FAIP, just a chat, and give targeted intervention to those who really

need it". One participant suggested that Fire Crews could share to responsibility for intervention with the existing dedicated FAIP Practitioners: "why don't we have a short version of the intervention, delivered by fire crews on the spot and FAIP can deal with more serious cases?" Others felt that they were responding to more complex cases which required increased intervention time: "we need more time with clients...more than 2 visits in some cases but then we are required to justify this to management who are watching the timesheets". With regard to more complex cases, some participants stated that they would be interested in providing: "additional mentoring support, but I'm not sure if it's a Fire Service thing". Finally, several participants referred to the need to ensure that interagency relationships were strengthened, to ensure additional support reached families in need.

Provision of full-time staff is critical

A clear need was identified for the recruitment and retention of full-time regional Co-ordinators and practitioners. Participants reported that recruitment of full time staff:

"would allow and ability to see what needs to be done i.e.) up-skilling for practitioners, constant networking with referral partners and quicker decision making".

Content and Resources should be updated and used flexibly

Many comments reiterated a clear need for resources to be updated. One participant stated that they would appreciate access to a laptop to take to the intervention, as some of the families do not have power and battery powered laptops would allow the DVD resources to be accessed by more families. Other participants suggested the addition of a station visit as part of the education component of the programme and greater emphasis placed upon the consequences of fire setting within the Fire Wise programme in schools as a primary prevention strategy.

Finally, several participants stated that the Screening profile contained many extraneous questions that they felt uncomfortable asking and took too long to complete. Many participants stated that they would prefer fewer items and more useful questions. Some stated that they omit questions that they don't understand the relevance of. Participants suggested modifications to the Screening Profile: "we need to take out the questions regarding abuse history... that lead us down a path we aren't qualified to deal with" and other stated "we are not counsellors, why do we need to know all that stuff?"

Promotion and support of the FAIP is critical for the longevity of the programme

Some comments indicated that while FAIP staff enjoy good peer support, they do not feel supported by other New Zealand Fire Service staff: "it's a bit us and them, they think we do the touchy feely stuff". Participants felt that this "us and them" division exists because of a lack of understanding about the FAIP. In order to encourage "more buy-in from colleagues", participants suggested that opportunities should be made available for: "operational crew to 'buddy' up with FAIP colleagues... if they understood it more they might promote it!" One participant suggested that Operational Crews could support the FAIP by: "placing more emphasis on following up suspicious fires, we need them to take seriously the investigative aspects and get more thorough details of children involved in fires". Other comments suggested that advertising the FAIP more on television may result in greater numbers of families who are in need, accessing appropriate support from the NZFS.

Summary of additional services which should be added

Participants clearly indicated that the FAIP would benefit from a focus on the development of existing services as opposed to the addition of services. There was strong agreement that the programme would benefit from the recruitment of full-time staff and participants also felt strongly that existing staff should be provided with opportunities for training and development in order to maintain a high level of service provision. Additional comments reflected the need to ensure that participants remained engaged with the resources. It was felt that this could be achieved by updating resources and using them flexibly; adapting them to age and level of need.

Cultural services of the FAIP

Programme staff were asked a series of questions regarding the cultural services provided by the FAIP and asked to rate them on scale of 1 = 'not at all'; 2 = 'sometimes'; and 3 = 'always'. Responses produced mixed perceptions regarding the importance of addressing cultural needs during the course of the intervention. (For specific questions see Appendices K to O).

A mixed perception of the importance of culture when conducting an intervention

Many participants spoke at length about the importance of being sensitive to issues of culture when conducting an intervention. Further, the majority of participants stated that they believed that consideration of culture to be of great benefit to the programme consumers. Participants described the importance of cultural awareness in terms of the impact upon developing rapport and gaining trust: "if you can see someone else's perspective, it helps" and "it makes them

feel at ease...supports engagement". Another participant detailed their efforts to be culturally sensitive: "I try to be aware- I always take my shoes off".

A different view was expressed by others who reported that cultural differences are not relevant in the delivery of FAIP: "a match is a match, we deal with fire lighting not culture". They argued that fire lighting behaviour transcended culture: "everyone's the same with the lights out" and further stated that to alter current practice based on culture would not benefit anyone: "I would hate to see us make a big effort culturally, it's the message that's important not the messenger".

A mixed perception of the availability and utility of cultural supervisors

Some participants stated that there was no, or very little Maori cultural supervision available for the FAIP practitioners: "I go to colleagues for advice when I need it". Others reported that cultural supervision was available from the lwi Liaison officers: "I could go to the Iwi liaison officer...there is one Iwi liaison officer between 2 regions" but cited their reluctance to access this support: "we share one Iwi Liaison with another region so they are geographically nowhere near us" and another participant stated: "I could go to the Iwi Liaison but we wouldn't use them due to confidentiality issues".

Cultural services could be improved

Those who perceived culture to represent a significant issue in delivering the FAIP made many suggestions for ways that FAIP can improve the cultural services it currently provides. Themes fall into four broad categories: Recruitment; training and support; programme content and resources; and interagency relationships.

Active recruitment of diverse cultures is essential

For those participants who perceived culture to be a significant factor in delivery of the FAIP, cultural matching was considered to be a positive approach. This idea was limited by the lack of diverse practitioners currently employed by the FAIP: "we work hard at matching culture", "we don't do this enough...we just don't have the luxury". Comments indicted that the NZFS should take steps to ensure the diversity of FAIP staff which would in turn facilitate cultural matching and the possibility of greater engagement in the FAIP.

Cultural training and support should be specific and on-going

A clear need was identified for the provision of specific training regarding diverse cultures: "there is no specific training and only the proactive find out". Currently, practitioners receive two hours Maori cultural awareness training from an lwi Liaison Officer during their initial training and induction week. Comments from participants reflected a desire to have more comprehensive training which addressed diverse cultures relevant to FAIP practice. Another recommendation was the provision of 'training up-dates' every 2-3 years post induction.

Programme content and resources could be more responsive to culture

Participants recognised that the Fire Wise Programme for year 1 and 2 is available in Te Reo Māori (Maui Tinei Ahi) and suggested that it may be appropriate to include cultural components in the FAIP and/or deliver the Fire Wise programme in Kohanga. Many participant spoke of the need to undertake research to ascertain the demand for resources to be printed in Te Reo as this was currently unclear: "we need to know what their needs are and how we can meet those needs". Other participants suggested that resources could be printed in multiple languages to further reach out to diverse communities.

Stronger Inter-agency relationships would benefit ethnic minority groups

Many participants identified that ethnic groups may not be aware of the potential support available to them via the NZFS and FAIP due to language barriers. Participants highlighted the need to undertake more aggressive outreach to migrant community and settlement groups which would enable these groups to access the support of the FAIP should they require it.

Summary of staff perceptions of the FAIP's cultural services

Participants presented comments which highlighted a mixed perception of the importance of cultural sensitivity in programme delivery. Some participants stated that issues of culture were unimportant in addressing fire setting behaviour because they believed that fire setting behaviour transcends culture. Others stated that demonstrating an awareness and sensitivity to issues of culture was an important aspect of programme delivery as it enhances rapport building and supports engagement with programme consumers.

For those participants who felt that culture was an important aspect of the FAIP, suggestions for improvement of the cultural services of the FAIP were offered which included: access to training and development opportunities for staff to gain specific knowledge about different cultures including Maori culture; active recruitment of ethnic minority staff to enable provision of cultural matching during intervention; provision of multi-lingual resources, including workbooks and DVD's, and developing stronger relationships to agencies who support migrant communities which it was felt would ensure greater access to FAIP for these communities.

Conclusions

The findings show that programme staff are positive and passionate about the FAIP. In particular, they believe in the ability of the programme to raise awareness about the dangers and consequences of unsafe fire use and effect behaviour change in individuals who have deliberately set fires. Participants were asked a series of questions designed to elicit responses regarding the strengths of the programme and aspects which they believe could be improved. The

responses generated many themes and sub-themes many of which recurthroughout each interview.

There was clear agreement by participants that one of the key strengths of the programme was the skill and ability of the practitioner in developing rapport with adolescents and their families. In particular it was felt that a non-judgemental, non-threatening approach supported rapport building and engagement. Some participants noted however that levels of engagement can be moderated by factors such as cultural sensitivity and whether the programme content is presented at a level appropriate to age and ability.

In order to develop and maintain the skills necessary to respond to the needs of the programme consumers in a flexible manner, participants recognised the importance of training and development. A clear need was identified for training and development opportunities to be identified at the national level, with refresher training provided at regular intervals. In particular, those participants who believed culture to be a key factor affecting engagement suggested that they would welcome additional training with regard to the traditions and customs of a variety of cultures.

The importance of using techno-savvy resources which would increase appeal and engagement of adolescents was highlighted by many participants. Many noted that using the resources had a significant impact in adolescents and families and reinforced the seriousness of the consequences associated with unsafe fire use. However a clear need was identified to keep resources relevant to programme consumers to ensure levels of engagement are not lost and thus result in poorer outcomes.

Finally, many participants stated that greater promotion of the programme in the community would result in greater awareness of the aims of the FAIP and knowledge of the target population served by the FAIP. It was hoped that this increased knowledge might result in more appropriate referrals to the FAIP by community agencies and further encourage families to access the services of the FAIP for support.

While there were very few negative comments made about FAIP staff experiences of the programme, the possibility that interview data was distorted by reporting biases cannot be ruled out. This is discussed further in the final chapter.

External Agency Staff Perspectives

This section examines the Fire Awareness and Intervention Programme primarily from the perspectives of the stakeholders from various youth community agencies. Representatives from the youth agencies who kindly participated in the FAIP evaluation interviews are referred to as 'participants' in this section. Participants were asked questions designed to elicit the level of contact that their agency has with adolescents who deliberately light fires; their level of knowledge and understanding of the FAIP, and to what extent a reciprocal referral process operates between the agency which they represent and the New Zealand Fire Service.

Knowledge of the FAIP is limited

Out of the six youth agencies contacted, five have had contact with children or adolescents who have deliberately lit fires. Only one agency interviewed had every refused admission to their own programme (drug and alcohol) on the basis that the young person had deliberately set fires. Furthermore, only one out of the six youth agencies stated that they were aware of the FAIP programme and indicated that they do currently make referrals to the FAIP. All of the agencies whose views were canvassed stated that they would be very interested to obtain more information regarding the FAIP and one agency indicated a desire to do collaborative work with a view to designing a joint intervention programme.

Triangulation data

Triangulation is a process by which the consistency of information across multiple sources of can be cross checked and thus the validity of qualitative data is strengthened (Patton, 1987). In this evaluation, interview data was compared to file information, the perspectives of FAIP co-ordinators and training staff was compared with programme practitioners and interview responses from adolescents was compared to that of parents and caregivers. Presented below is an example of the triangulation of data in which an adolescent perspective and caregiver perspective are compared, and data obtained from interviews is compared to file information.

Demographic information

JB is a 16-year-old male who identifies as NZ European. JB resides at home with his biological mother, father and two brothers. JB has lit 2 fires, the first was at age 14 when he lit a fire in a bin next to the school tuck shop, and the second was at age 15 when he set a fire in the public toilets of a tennis club. JB undertook the FAIP in October 2006 and participated in an interview as part of the current FAIP evaluation in February 2008.

Interview data

JB's father GB was contacted via telephone in the first instance, to gain consent for both JB and GB to participate in the FAIP evaluation interviews. Once consent was obtained arrangements were made to undertake the interviews face to face at the family home. GB was present for the duration of his son's interview however was not able to undertake the interview on the same day due to time constraints. Another date was arranged to conduct an interview with GB via telephone.

Caregiver perspective

GB made many positive comments regarding the FAIP with regard to the content and delivery. In particular he stated that: "the face to face contact, shaking of hands, the commitment they asked of JB was excellent". With regard to what could be improved, GB stated that providing a follow-up visit would have been positive in order to reinforce what had been done on the programme: "there was no second visit to check that it is still in his head".

GB was asked if his son had any special treatment issues which were addressed by the FAIP to which he provided the following information:

"JB is a follower who needs support to say no to them [his friends], the programme didn't cover that"

"in fact they [Fire Service] treated him like he lit the fire but he didn't, he was with a friend who lit the fire in the tennis courts"

"there was that other fire in the bin at school, but that was minor... the school said that the whole school could have burnt down but I think that is a bit of an exaggeration"

"JB just needs to say no to his friends, that is all"

In terms of the overall impact of the programme and contact with the Fire Service GB noted: "he got the message I think, having one person visit was enough, he didn't need two". In summary, GB made many positive comments regarding the content and delivery of the FAIP. However GB indicated that his son was motivated by the influences of his peers to light fires. He further suggested that his son's recidivistic fire lighting behaviour could be prevented by providing strategies to address peer pressure, something that he felt was not addressed by the programme.

Adolescent perspective

JB provided information regarding the last time he deliberately lit a fire which was at age 15, when he received a charge of 'Arson' for lighting a fire in a toilet block of a tennis club. As a result of the 'Arson' charge JB spent three months in a boy's home. JB further volunteered that he was also known to the Police for 'assault', 'disorderly behaviour' and for 'burglary' on a liquor store when he was 13-years-old.

With regard to the fire set in the toilet block of the tennis club he stated that he had been motivated to set the fire as a means of concealing a crime and explained:

"I was drunk with a mate and we stole a first aid kit from a local Primary School...my friend tried to burn it [first aid kit] because it was evidence and it almost burnt down the entire toilet block of the tennis courts".

JB stated that mostly he could not recall the work he had done during the FAIP as he was "hung-over at the time". In terms of the content of the FAIP, JB stated that he:

"only answered a few questions and stuff, there were no workbooks or handouts or anything...and I did community service-chopping wood at the Fire station".

JB volunteered information regarding his first incident of fire lighting in which he had undertaken at age 14. He explained:

"I lit a piece of paper and put it into a bin and the bin burnt... fire went up the wall of the school tuck shop... the bin was next to the wall". With regard to what had motivated to light the fire at school he cited revenge:

"I didn't like the school, I wanted revenge, to see all the teachers running around worried"

"the school is too strict, the teachers didn't like me, I wanted revenge from a teacher who left a scar on me from dragging me down the hallway"

JB was asked to identify his thoughts and feelings; before the fire setting incident: "excited and angry"; at the time of the incident: "adrenalin rush"; and after the fire: "I was laughing and running, I was happy and then gutted after the punishment". When asked whether there was anything that could have prevented him from lighting the fires he stated categorically: "nothing".

In summary, JB indicated that he was motivated to set the fires out of revenge and in order to conceal a crime. JB was unable to identify any aspects of the FAIP which had been helpful to him and was very clear that there was nothing that could have prevented him from setting either of the fires.

Fire Service File Information

Additional information was gathered from Fire Service File documentation with the purpose of cross checking information provided in the interviews and thus strengthening the validity of the data. File documentation matched demographic details provided by both JB and GB in the interviews and further validated details of the fire setting incident which took place in the toilets of a tennis club. File documentation cited: 'boredom' and 'just for fun' as motivation for the fire setting. File documentation indicated that JB had a diagnosis of ADHD. The file also detailed additional needs: "anger, poor concentration, learning difficulties" and provided details of additional problem behaviours:

"alcohol abuse, often bullies, threatens or intimidates others; has been physically cruel to people, vandalism/violence towards property, drug abuse, often initiates physical fights, group offending, often lies, running away from home".

The file information also noted that JB was referred to the FAIP by the Police and had additional involvement from CYFS, GP, Justice and Counsellors.

Summary

Triangulation in qualitative data analysis is crucial to strengthen the validity of findings. In this study interview data was compared to file information, the perspectives of FAIP co-ordinators and training staff was compared with programme practitioners and interview responses from adolescents was compared to that of parents and caregivers. Client files held by the NZFS contain information gathered from parents, caregivers and the adolescent using the Screening Profile. Comparison of this file information with qualitative data obtained from interviews with JB and GB in this case, yielded discrepant

information with regard to motivations for fire setting behaviour and perceptions of the FAIP. Therefore importance of triangulation of qualitative data in programme evaluation is critical in order to strengthen the validity of findings.

GB presented the perspective of a parent who believed the FAIP to be a comprehensive intervention programme which was a positive experience overall. GB's perspective of his son's fire setting behaviour was that it was motivated by peer pressure. This was an aspect which stated he would have like addressed in the FAIP, in more detail. By contrast, JB's perspective of the FAIP was that it was a brief intervention, requiring him to "answer a few questions". JB stated in contrast to his father, that his motivation for the fire setting had been to conceal a crime and revenge and further, that nothing would have prevented him from setting the fires. While GB presented information which suggested that JB was a teenager who was behaving under the influence of peer pressure, NZFS file documentation presents a picture of a young person, with complex needs, presenting with a catalogue of problematic behaviours. It is important to note that data obtained from interviews in this study form only one important component of qualitative data analysis. The validity of information collected in this study is strengthened by the comparisons made between interviews from multiple informants and file documentation held by the NZFS.

Conclusions

Key Successes of the FAIP

The qualitative data yielded rich descriptions of the successes of the Fire Awareness and Intervention Programme. Key findings suggest that adolescents, parents and caregivers believed that the FAIP had been a positive experience and that they had derived significant benefits from their participation in the programme. Comments from programme staff demonstrated an overwhelming passion for the FAIP and willingness to offer recommendations which might ensure its continued success and evolution.

Specific key successes of the FAIP were:

- 1. Practitioner qualities facilitate engagement in the intervention
- 2. Providing home based intervention is positive and effective
- Engaging parents and caregivers is important
- 4. Resources make a powerful impact in most cases*
- 5. Flexibility of practitioner delivery and tailoring the intervention to the adolescent's ability is important

Key Areas for Improvement of the FAIP

Whilst the qualitative data yielded rich descriptions of the successes of the FAIP, the purpose of any programme evaluation is to consider areas for improvement and make recommendations which might ensure its continued success. Presented here are key findings which identify areas for development and improvement of the FAIP with suggestions for improvement drawn directly from participant interviews. Recommendations fall broadly into two categories: Programme delivery factors and organisational considerations.

Programme Delivery Factors

Recommendations for improvement which fell into the category of programme factors include aspects of participant engagement which are moderated by programme content and use of resources

- 1. Content must be appropriate to developmental level and level of need*
- 2. Resources need to be regularly reviewed and updated

^{*} Resources (in order of preference) included: 1) DVD's, 2) pictures of fires and 3) workbooks.

^{*} Need refers to factors such as the seriousness of the current incident and the number of previous incidents of fire setting

Organisational considerations

Recommendations for programme improvement which fell into the category of organisational considerations include: recruitment and training of staff; support and promotion of the programme; inter-agency networking; and allocation of resources via efficient referral processes.

- 1. Inter-agency relationships need to be strengthened
- 2. Greater support and promotion of the FAIP is required
- 3. Allocation of resources is aided by clear referral processes
- 4. Training and development of FAIP staff ensures a high quality service

Cultural Services of the FAIP

A mixed perception regarding the cultural services of the FAIP

- 1. Additional Cultural Training is required
- 2. Active recruitment of practitioners from diverse cultures is required
- 3. Programme content and resources could be more responsive to culture by including Maori myths and legends to convey fire safety messages

Strengths and Limitations of the Evaluation

Comprehensive data was obtained from sixty-eight interviews with four different groups of interview participants, across six different geographical sites in New Zealand. These factors are a major strength of this study as it facilitated comparison of the interview data obtained from parents and caregivers, adolescents, practitioners and staff from external agencies.

Researchers have claimed that only Maori should research Maori, and this has resulted in Maori being excluded from research samples (Tolich, 2002). The inclusion of Maori perspectives regarding programme effectiveness was crucial given that Maori account for one third of all referrals to the NZFS annually. Accordingly, one third of the participants in this study were Maori. The inclusion of Maori in this study necessitated the consultation of Maori cultural advisors to attend to issues of cultural sensitivity and safety when interviewing Maori.

Studies which employ qualitative research methods are vulnerable to issues of objectivity and bias; sample selection; and generalisability. These factors are given due consideration here. Whist it must be acknowledged that complete objectivity in qualitative research is impossible, I took several steps to ameliorate potential biases (Spencer, Ritchie, Lewis & Dillon, 2003). All participants were provided with information regarding the purpose of the study, the limits of confidentiality and given an opportunity to ask questions. This allowed them to

make an informed choice about their participation in the study. No interview was conducted prior to receiving written consent.

During the interviews I remained mindful of my own ideas and beliefs about interventions which come from my experience as Programme Facilitator, delivering rehabilitation programmes to medium risk offenders at the Department of Corrections. I was aware that my experiences in the field of interventions might lead me to give selective attention to topics which interest me and or responses which confirmed my preconceived views about the programme. In order to reduce the effect of any potential biases and enhance the reliability of the data, I presented broad themes to my supervisor. In collaboration with my supervisor we further refined the broad themes and reached a consensus.

The initial sampling design of this study included the recruitment of both 'engaged' and 'resistant' participants. However, there were difficulties in reaching adequate sampling numbers of participants across all programme sites and thus it was not possible to purposefully select both 'engaged' and 'resistant' participants. Had this been achieved, a more balanced perception of the FAIP may have been presented. Accordingly it must be acknowledged there may be a bias inherent in the fact that those who agreed to participate in this study did so, on the basis that had previously had a positive engagement with the Fire Service.

Finally, generalisability is a limitation inherent in qualitative research and as such, consideration should be given to the setting in which this study was undertaken. The FAIP operates in New Zealand across eight distinct fire regions, all of which present diverse geographical, cultural and social challenges for the delivery of intervention for deliberate fire setting. It is hope that enough detail has been provided here to allow the readers to determine the extent to which the New Zealand context may be applied to different settings.

Directions for future research

Using a process evaluation framework, this study investigated adolescent and caregiver perceptions of the extent to which the FAIP programme met their needs, reduced the likelihood of further fire setting; and investigated FAIP staff and external agency responses to the FAIP programme, including perceptions of its strengths and weaknesses. In order to enhance and extend the information provided in this study with regard to cultural services of the FAIP, further targeted research should be conducted. A process evaluation of the FAIP with special emphasis given to the perceptions of Maori and Pacific Islanders experiences of the programme could enhance understanding of 'what works' in reducing the incidence of further fire setting. Due consideration should be given to the possibility that research undertaken by a person of matched cultural identity to those being interviewed may yield richer sources of information.

Future research should be directed to conducting an outcome evaluation of the FAIP in order to determine whether attendance at the FAIP resulted in a reduction in lower rates of recidivism. These objectives fit with the key element in the New Zealand Fire Service's strategic direction of reducing the incidence of fire, reducing the consequence of fire for people, property, and the environment. Any outcome evaluation would need to take into account the fact that Western Region does not currently input data into the National database and thus will not provide a complete picture of the success of the FAIP.

A comprehensive outcome evaluation might include a medium and long-term evaluation of recidivism, which is then compared to recidivism rates reported in international literature. It may be important to assess participant's progress with regard to a variety of different developmental domains including: psychological, behavioural, social, educational, family and system factors. On the basis of the outcome evaluation, recommendations could be made to the NZFS in order improve programme effectiveness with specific emphasis on variables which predict engagement, programme completion and predict positive outcomes such as lowered recidivism.

Recommendations

The following recommendations are made for the development of the Fire Awareness and Intervention Programme and fall into three categories: programme delivery factors, organisational factors and cultural responsivity.

Programme Delivery Factors

- 1. To ensure that current resources are reviewed and updated regularly and to investigate the possibility of using interactive information technology based resources (CD Rom, Internet, Electronic games).
- 2. To ensure that follow-up contact is carried out after the completion of the FAIP and that further follow-up is arranged as necessary.
- 3. To develop a fire screening questionnaire that can assist with tailoring the FAIP to the needs of the young person.
- 4. To implement a trial of the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) in 1-2 Fire regions of NZ for 1 year and evaluate the success of this as a behavioural and mental health screening questionnaire.

Organisational Factors

- 5. To ensure the continued evaluation of FAIP program success at regular intervals of between 2-5 years.
- To develop and maintain relationships between the NZFS and Police, Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services, Schools, Youth Offender Treatment Programmes and CYFs.
- 7. To promote the FAIP within the entire NZFS to ensure all NZFS staff support the programme.
- 8. To increase awareness of the FAIP within the wider community and professional networks to ensure that early identification and intervention with child and adolescent fire lighters occurs.
- 9. To ensure the appointment of at least one full time practitioner in fire regions such as Auckland where there are high referral rates.
- 10. That professional development occurs at regular intervals to ensure practitioner skills are maintained and developed.
- 11. To incorporate a variety of training methods into the existing training package. This may include utilising professional actors in role plays demonstrating intervention with clients presenting with a variety of needs, which can be viewed on DVD by trainees. This would ensure standardisation of training and respond to 'adult learning principles' such as auditory, kinaesthetic, visual learning styles.

Cultural Responsivity

- 12. To further investigate the need to develop culturally specific resources in collaboration with the National Māori Advisor and the Iwi Liaison Officers (Resources may include the use of Maori myths and legends).
- 13. To develop a best practice guidance and training package in consultation with cultural advisors for working with Māori families and other cultural groups and to ensure the formal and regular provision of cultural supervision for FAIP staff.
- 14. To actively recruit practitioners from diverse cultural backgrounds in order to address the different cultural needs of FAIP clients.

References

- Adler, R., Nunn, R., Northam, E., Lebnan, V., & Ross, R. (1994). Secondary prevention of childhood firesetting. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 33(8), 1194-1202.
- American Psychiatric Association. (2000). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders: DSM-IV-TR* (4th, text revision ed.). Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Association.
- Armstrong, M. L. (1998). Adolescent pathways: Exploring the intersections between child welfare and juvenile justice, PINS and mental health. New York: Vera Institute of Justice.
- Arson Prevention Bureau. (2003). Fire setting definitely not child's play.

 Retrieved 9 July 2007 from

 http://www.arsonpreventionbureau.org.uk/saveddocument/NEWS%20RELEASE.childs%20play.pdf
- Barker, A. F. (1994). *Arson: A review of the psychiatric literature*. Maudsley Monographs, No. 35, 110.
- Barreto, S. J., Boekamp, J. R., Armstrong, L. M., & Gillen, P. (2004). Community-Based Interventions for Juvenile Firestarters: A Brief Family-Centered Model. *Psychological Services*, *1*(2), 158-168.
- Block, J. H., Block, .J., & Folkman, W. S. (1976). Fire and children learning survival skills. U.S.A. Forest Service paper (PSW-1 19). Berkeley, U.S.A. Forest Service.
- Bourduin, C. M., & Henggeler, S. W. (1990). A multi-systemic approach to the treatment of serious delinquent behaviour. In R. J. McMahon & R. D. Peters (Eds.), *Behaviour disorders of adolescents: research, intervention, and policy in clinical and school settings* (pp. 63-80). New York: Plenum Press.
- Boyd-Webb, N. B., Sakheim, G. A., Towns-Miranda, L., & Wagner, C. R. (1990). Collaborative Treatment of Juvenile Firesetters: Assessment and Outreach. American Journal of Orthopsychiatry, 60 (2), 305-310.
- Brandish, J. K. (1999). Arson in America: 1999 National update. Firehouse, September, 40-41.
- Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006). Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *3*, 77-101.

- Brett, A. (2004). Kindling theory in arson: how dangerous are firesetters? Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry, 38, 419-425.
- Brofenbrenner, U. (1979). *The ecology of human development: experiments by nature and design.* Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Brosnan, E., Sharry, J., Fitzpatrick, C., & Boyle, R. (2008). Using multimedia stories as a means of engaging adolescents in psychotherapy https://www.cs.tcd.ie/TIMH/05-Brosnan.pdf
- Bryman, A. (2004). *Social research methods* (2nd ed.). Oxford, England: Oxford University Press.
- Bumpass, E. R., Brix, R. J., & Preston, D. (1985). A community-based programme for juvenile firesetters. *Hospital and Community Psychiatry*, *36(5)*, 529-530.
- Bumpass, E. R., Fagelman, F. D., & Brix, R. J. (1983). Intervention with children who set fires. *American Journal of Psychotherapy*, *37*(3), 328-345.
- Burchard, J. D., Bruns, E. J., & Burchard, S. N. (2002). The wraparound approach. In B. J. Burns & K. Hoagwood (Eds.), *Community treatment for youth: Evidence based interventions for severe emotional and behavioural disorders* (pp. 69-90). New York: Oxford University Press.
- Birchill, L. E. (1984). Portland's firesetter programme involves both child and family. *American Fire Journal*, 23, 15–16.
- Burns, B. J., & Goldman, S.K (Eds.). (1999). Promising practices in wraparound for children with serious emotional disturbances and their families:

 Systems of Care. Washington, DC: American Institutes for Research, Center for Effective Collaboration and Practice.
- Burns, B. J., & Hoagwood, K. (Eds.), (2002). Community treatment for youth: Evidence based interventions for severe emotional and behavioural disorders. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Burns, B. J., Schoenwald, S. K., Burchard, J. D., Faw, L., & Santos, A. B. (2000). Comprehensive community-based interventions for youth with severe emotional disorders: Multi-systemic therapy and the wraparound process. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, *9*, 283-314.
- Canter, D. V., & Almond, L. (2002). The Burning issue: Research and strategies for reducing arson (Report for the Arson Control Forum). London: Office of the Deputy Prime Minister.

- Canter, D., & Frison, K. (1998). Differentiating Arsonists: A model of firesetting actions and characteristics. Legal and Criminological Psychology, 3, 73-96.
- Cauce, A. M., Domenech-Rodriguez, M., Paradise, M, Cochran, B. N., Shea, J. M., Srebnik, D., & Baydar, N. (2002). Cultural and contextual influences in mental health help seeking: A focus on ethnic minority youth. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 70, 44-55.
- Cole, R. E., Kitzman, H., Arcoleo, K., Anson, E., Koulouglioti, C., & Feng, J. (2005). Socialisation strategies, behavioural compliance and childhood injuries. Paper presented at the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention Injury and Violence in America Conference, Denver, Colorado.
- Cole, R. E., Laurentis, L. R., Mc Andrews, M. M., Matkoski, K. M., & Schwartzman, P. I. (1983). *Final report of the 1983 fire-related youth project.* Rochester, NY: New York State Office of Fire Prevention and Control.
- Cook, R., Hersch, R., Gaynor, J., & Roehl, J. (1989). *The national juvenile firesetter/arson control and prevention program: Assessment report and executive summary.* Washington, DC: Institute for Social Analysis.
- Crimes Act 1961, No. 43 Statutes of New Zealand ~ 267 (1961).
- Dadds, M. R., & Fraser, J. A. (2006). Fire interest, fire setting and psychopathology in Australian children: A normative study. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 40(6), 581-586.
- Dede, C. (2005). Planning for "Neomillennial" Learning Styles: Implications for Investments in Technology and Faculty. In J. Oblinger and D. Oblinger (Eds.), Educating the Net Generation, pp. 226-247. Boulder, CO: EDUCAUSE Publishers. Retrieved 9 July 2007 from http://www.educause.edu/educatingthenetgen/
- Dehar, M., Casswell, C., & Duignan, P. (1993). Formative and process evaluation of health promotion and disease prevention programs. Evaluation Review, 17, 204-220.
- DeSalvatore, G., & Hornstein, R. (1991). Juvenile firesetting: Assessment and treatment in psychiatric hospitalization and residential placement. *Child* & *Youth Care Forum* 20(2), 103-114.
- Duncan, I., Ballingall, J., Cosslett, C., & Buchan, D. (2002). School Fires in New Zealand: Economic and Social Analysis: Final report to the New Zealand

- *Fire Service Commission*. New Zealand Institute of Economic Research. Wellington.
- Eglintine, A., Horn, K., & Muckley A. (1993). Juvenile firesetters: A training programme for fire service personnel. Newton Aycliffe, County Durham. Centre for Adolescent Studies.
- Esquirol, J. E. D. (1965). *Mental maladies- a treatise on insanity.* (E. K. Hunt, Trans.). New York: Hafner.
- Faranda, D. M., Katsikas, S. L., & Lim, N. (2001). Communities working together: An evaluation of the intervention programme for juvenile fire setters and arsonists in Broward County, Florida. *American Journal of Forensic Psychology*, 19, 37-62.
- Federal Emergency Management Agency. (1983). *Juvenile Firesetters Handbook: Dealing with children ages 7-13 years*. Washington, DC. US Government Printing Office. 1983.
- Fineman, K. R. (1980). *Firesetting in childhood and adolescence*. Psychiatric Clinics of North America, 3, 483-499.
- Fire and Emergency Services Authority of Western Australia. (2000). Flame outcombating deliberate fire lighting in Western Australia. Public discussion paper. Perth: Fire and Emergency Services Authority.
- Forehand, R., Wierson, M., Frame, C. L., Kemptom, T., & Armisted, L. (1991). Juvenile firesetting: A unique syndrome or an advanced level of antisocial behavior? *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 29(2), 125-128.
- Franklin, G. A., Pucci, P. S., Arbabi, S., Brandt, M.-M., Wahl, W. L., & Taheri, P. A. (2002). Decreased juvenile arson and firesetting recidivism after implementation of a multidisciplinary prevention program. *Journal of Trauma-Injury Infection & Critical Care*, 53(2), 260-264.
- Freud, A. (1946). *The Psychoanalytic treatment of children*. New York: International Universities Press.
- Gaynor, J. (1991). Firesetting. In M. Lewis (Ed.), *Child and adolescent psychiatry: A comprehensive textbook* (pp. 711-724). Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins.
- Gaynor, J., & Hatcher, C. (1987). The psychology of child firesetting: Detection and Intervention. NY: Brunner Mazel.

- Gaynor, J., Huff, T. G., & Karchmer, C. L. (1986). *The linkages between childhood firestarting and adult arson crime: A secondary analysis of convicted arsonists' retrospective reports (No. 1).* San Francisco: National Firehawk Foundation.
- Gray, D. (2002) Ten years on: A longitudinal study of families of children with autism. *Journal of Intellectual and Developmental Disability*, 27(3), 215-222.
- Geary, J. & Lambie, I. (2005). Turning lives around; A process evaluation of community adolescent sex offender treatment programme in New Zealand (No.10220.20) Auckland: Auckland UniServices Limited.
- Geller, J. L. (1992). Arson in review: From profit to pathology. *Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, *15*(3), 623-645.
- Goldfried, M. (1998). A comment on psychotherapy integration in the treatment of children. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 28, 40-53.
- Goldstein H. (2002). Communication intervention for children with autism: a review of treatment efficacy. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, *32*, 373-396.
- Goodchild M., Sanderson K., Leung-Wai J., Nana, G. (2005), The Cost of Managing the Risk of Fire in New Zealand, NZFSC Report Number 53. Wellington: New Zealand Fire Service Commission.
- Grolnick, W. S., Cole, R. E., Laurenitis, L., & Schwartzman, P. (1990). Playing with fire: A developmental assessment of children's fire understanding and experience. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 19(2), 128-135.
- Hall Jr, J. R. (2000). Children playing with fire. Quincy, MA: National Fire Protection Association.
- Hallowell, E. M. & Ratey, J.R. (1994). *Driven to distraction: recognizing and coping with attention deficit disorder from childhood through adulthood.* NY: Touchstone.
- Haines, S., Lambie, I., & Seymour, F. (2006). *International approaches to reducing deliberately lit fires: Prevention Programmes.* Report prepared for: Contestable Research Fund New Zealand Fire Commission.
- Heath, G., Hardesty, V. A., Goldfine, P. E., & Walker, A. M. (1985). Diagnosis and childhood firesetting. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *41*(4), 571-575.

- Howe, N., Strauss, W. (2000). *Millenials Rising: The Next Great Generation*. New York: Vintage Books.
- Howell, J. C., Kelly, M. R., Palmer, J. & Mangum, R. L. (2004). Integrating Child Welfare, Juvenile Justice, and Other Agencies in a Continuum of Care. *Child Welfare League of America*,143-156.
- Hoskins, R., Smith, L., & De Santolo, J. (2001). Te whare hauora: Interventions in Maori house fire mortality rates through innovations in healthy Maori housing solutions. Retrieved 16 March, 2008, from http://www.fire.org.nz/research/reports/reports/Report_14.htm
- Jacobson, R. R. (1985). Child Fire setters: A Clinical investigation. *Journal of Child Psychology & Psychiatry & Allied Disciplines*, 26, 759-768.
- Jayaprakash, S., Jung, J. & Pantich, D. (1984). Multi-factorial assessment of hospitalised children who set fires. *Child Welfare*, 63, 74-78.
- Jessor, R., Graves, T. D., Hanson, R. C. & Jessor, S. L. (1968). *Society, personality, and deviant behviour: A study of a tri-ethnic community.* New York: Holt, Rinehart, & Winston.
- Jessor, R. & Jessor, S. L. (1977). *Problem behaviour and psychosocial development: A longitudinal study of youth.* New York. Academic Press.
- Jessor, R. & Jessor, S. L. (1984). Adolescence to young adulthood: a 12-year prospective study of problem behaviour and psychosocial development. In S. A. Mednick, M. Harway, & K. M. Finello (Eds.), *Handbook of longitudinal research: Vol 2. Teenage and adult cohorts* (pp. 34-61). Westport, CT: Greenwood Press.
- Jones, R.T., Ribbe, D.P., & Cunningham, P. (1994). Psychosocial correlates of fire disaster among children and adolescents. *Journal of Traumatic Stress* 7, 117-122.
- Kauffman, I., Heims, L. W., & Reisner, D. E. (1961). A re-evaluation of the psychodynamics of firesetting. *American Journal of Orthopsychiarty, 31,* 123-136.
- Kendall, P.C. (Ed.). (1991). *Child and adolescent therapy: Cognitive-behavioural procedures*. New York: Guildford Press.

- Kennedy, P. D, Vale, E, L, E., Khan, S, J., & McAney, A. (2006). Factors predicting recidivism in child and adolescent fire-setters: A systematic review of the literature. *The Journal of Forensic Psychiatry & Psychology,* 17 (1), 151-164.
- Kolko, D. J. (1985). Juvenile firesetting: A review and methodological critique. Clinical Psychological Review, 5, 345-376.
- Kolko, D. J., & Kazdin, A. E. (1988a). Parent-child correspondence in identification of fire setting among child psychiatric patients. *Journal of Child Psychology & Psychiatry & Allied Disciplines*, 29(2), 175-184.
- Kolko, D. (1999). Firesetting in children and youth. In V. B. Van Hasselt & M. Hersen (Eds.), *Handbook of psychological approaches with violent offenders: Contemporary strategies and issues.* New York: Kluwer Academic/Plenum.
- Kolko, D. J. (2001). Efficacy of cognitive-behavioural treatment and fire safety education for children who set fires: Initial and follow-up outcomes. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, *42*(3), 359-369.
- Kolko, D. J. (2002). Research studies on the problem. In D. J. Kolko (Ed.). Handbook on Firesetting in children and youth (pp. 33-56). San Diego: Academic Press.
- Kolko, D. J., Day, B. T., Bridge, J. A., & Kazdin, A. E. (2001). Two-year prediction of children's firesetting in clinically referred and non referred samples. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 4*2, 371-380.
- Kolko, D. J., Herschell, A. D., & Scharf, D. M. (2006). Education and treatment for boys who set fires: Specificity, Moderators and Predictors of Recidivism. *Journal of Emotional and Behavioural Disorders*, 14 (4), 227-239.
- Kolko, D. J. & Kazdin, A. E. (1986). A conceptualisation of firesetting in children and adolescents. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, *14*, 49-61.
- Kolko, D. J. & Kazdin, A. E. (1988). Parent-child correspondence in identification of firesetting among child psychiatric patients. *Journal of Child Psychology* & *Psychiatry & Allied Disciplines*, 29, 175-184.
- Kolko, D. J. & Kazdin, A. E. (1989). The children's fire setting interview with psychiatrically referred and non referred children. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 17, 609-624.

- Kolko, D. J. & Kazdin, A. E. (1990). Matchplay and fire setting in children: relationship to parent, marital and family dysfunction. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 19, 229-238.
- Kolko, D. J., & Kazdin, A. E. (1991). Motives of childhood fire setters: Fire setting characteristics and psychological correlates. *Journal of Child Psychology* and Psychiatry 32 (3), 535-550.
- Kolko, D. J. & Kazdin, A. E. (1992). The emergence and re-occurance of child firesetting: A one year prospective study. *Journal of Abnormal Child Psychology*, 20, 17-37.
- Kolko, D. J., Kazdin, A. E., & Meyer, E. C. (1985). Aggression and psychopathology in childhood firesetters: Parent and child reports. *Journal* of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 53, 377-385.
- Kolko, D. J., Watson, S., & Faust, J. (1991). Fire safety/prevention skills training to reduce involvement with fire in young psychiatric inpatients: Preliminary findings. *Behavior Therapy*, 22(2), 269-284.
- Kolko, D. J., Wilcox, D., Nishi-Strattner, L., & Kopet, T. (2002). Clinical assessment of juvenile firesetters and their families: Tools and tips. In D. J. Kolko (Ed.). *Handbook on Firesetting in children and youth* (pp. 177-217). San Diego: Academic Press.
- Kosky, R., & Silburn, S. (1984). Children who light fires: A comparison between firesetters and non-firesetters referred to a child psychiatric outpatient service. *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*, 18 (3), 251-255.
- Lambie, I., McCardle, S., & Coleman, R. (2002). Where there's smoke there's fire: Firesetting behaviour in children and adolescents. *New Zealand Journal of Psychology*, 31, 73-78.
- Lester, D. (1975). Firesetting. Corrective and Social Psychiatry and Journal of behaviour Technology, methods, and therapy, 21, 22-26.
- Lewis, N. D. C., & Yarnell, H. (1951). *Pathological fire-setting, Nervous and Mental Disease* Monographs (No. 2). Nicholasville, Kentucky: Coolidge Foundation.
- Loeber, R., & Farrington, D. P. (Eds.). (2001). *Child delinquents: Development, intervention, and service needs.* Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Loeber, R., & Farrington, D. P. (Eds.). (1998). Serious and violent juvenile offenders: Risk factors and successful interventions. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

- Lowenstien, L. F. (2001). Recent research into arson (1992-2000). Incidence, causes and associated features, predictions, comparative studies and prevention and treatment. *The Police Journal*, *74*, 108-119.
- MacKay, S., Henderson, J., Del Bove, G., Marton, P., Warling, D., & Root, C. (2006). Fire interest and anti-sociality as risk factors in the severity and persistence of juvenile firesetting. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry 45*(9), 1077-1084.
- Magnusson, D., & Endler, N. S. (1977). Personality at the crossroads: Current issues in interactional psychology. New York: Erlbaum.
- Martin, G, A., Bergen, H, A., Richardson, A, S., Roeger, L. & Allison, S. (2004). Correlates of firesetting in a community sample of young adolescents. *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry, 38,* 148-154.
- Mears, D. P., Kelly, W. R., & Durden, E. D. (2001). Findings from a process evaluation of a statewide residential substance abuse treatment programme for youthful offenders. *The Prison Journal*, 81(2), 246-270.
- Merriam, B. (2002). *Qualitative research in practice*. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- McCarty, C. A. & McMahon, R. J. (2005). Domains of risk in the developmental continuity of fire setting. *Behaviour Therapy*, *36*, 185-195.
- Moffitt, T. E. (1993). Adolescence-limited and life-course persistent antisocial behaviour: A developmental taxonomy. *Psychological Review, 100*, 674-701.
- Morrison, T. (2006). Building a holistic approach in the treatment of young people who sexually abuse. In R. Longo & D. Prescott (Eds.), *Current perspectives: Working with sexually aggressive youth & youth with sexual behavior problems* (pp. 349-368). Holyoke, MA: NEARI Press.
- Morrissey, J. P., Jensen, M. C., & Calloway, M. O. (1997). Evaluating performance and change in mental health systems serving children and youth: An Inter-organisational network approach. *Journal of Mental Health Administration*, 24 (1), 4-22.
- Muller, D. A., & Stebbins, A. (2007). *Juvenile Arson in Australia. Trends and Issues in Crime and Criminal Justice, 335.* Australian Government Australian Institute of Criminology. Canberra.

- Myles, B., & Simpson, R. (1998). Asperger Syndrome: A guide for Educators and Parents. TX: Pro-Ed, Inc.
- National Association of State Fire Marshals. (2000). *Juvenile firesetter intervention project* (Prepared under Grant No. 1999-JS-FX-0005 from the Office of Juvenile Justice and Delinquency Prevention, Office of Justice Programs, U.S. Department of Justice). Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Justice.
- New Zealand Fire Service (1997). Annual Reports. New Zealand Fire Service Commission, Wellington, NZ.
- New Zealand Fire Service (2000). *Annual reports*. New Zealand Fire Service Commission, Wellington, NZ.
- New Zealand Fire Service. (2006). *Fire Awareness Intervention Programme*: Technical manual. Un-published manuscript.
- Nishi-Strattner, L. (2003). Washington County (Oregon) Fire Academy Programme uses team work to help juvenile firesetters. *Hot Issues, 12*, 4-5.
- Oblinger, D. (2003). Boomers, Gen-Xers, and Millennials: Understanding the "New Students". *Educause Review*, 38(4), 36-47.
- Office of the Deputy Prime Minister. (2003). *Arson Control Forum annual report*. London. Author. Retrieved 9 July 2007 from http://www.odpm.gov.uk/pub/670/FireStatisticsUnitedKingdom2004PDF11 93Kb_id1163670.pdf
- Olney, M. F. (2000). Working with Autism and other social communication disorders. *Journal of Rehabilitation*, *66*, 51-65.
- O'Toole, A. (2007). *Pictures aid communication and development -*Anne Carlson Center for Children. Retrieved 9 July 2007 from http://www.annecenter.org/news_events/connections/0406visual.html
- Palmer, E. J., Caulfield, L. S., & Hollin, C. R. (2005). *Evaluation of interventions with arsonists and young firesetters*. London: Office of the Deputy Prime Minister.
- Patton, M. Q. (1987). How to use qualitative methods in evaluation. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Patton, M. Q. (2002a). *Qualitative research and evaluation methods* (3 ed.). California: Sage.

- Pinsonneault, I. (2002a). Developmental perspectives on children and fire. In D. J. Kolko (Ed.), *Handbook on firesetting in children and youth* (pp. 15-32). San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Pinsonneault, I. L. (2002b). Fire safety education and skills training. In D. J. Kolko (Ed.), *Handbook on firesetting in children and youth* (pp. 219-237). San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Pinsonneault, I. L., Richardson, J. P., Jr., & Pinsonneault, J. (2002). Three models of educational interventions for child and adolescent fire setters. In D. J. Kolko (Ed.), *Handbook on firesetting in children and youth* (pp. 261-282). San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Putnam, C. T., & Kirkpatrick, J. T. (2005). *Juvenile Firesetting: A Research Overview. Juvenile Justice Bulletin* Retrieved 30 October, 2007, from http://www.ojjdp.ncjrs.gov/publications/PubResults.asp#2005
- Ramirez, S. Z., Wassef, A., Paniagua, F. A., & Linskey, A. O. (1996). Mental heath providers' perceptions of cultural variables in evaluating ethnically diverse clients. *Professional Psychology: Research and Practice, 27(3)*, 284-288.
- Report Q.F.a.S.R. *Queensland Fire and Rescue Service Annual Report*. Brisbane: Queensland Fire and rescue service, 1999/2000.
- Rime, H. (2008). *Information Technology in Education: Benefits & Challenges*. Retrieved 30 October, 2007, from http://www.ul.edu.lb/fthm/papers/4th%20Axis/benefits%20and%20challan ges.doc
- Rice, M. E., & Harris, G. T. (1991). Firesetters admitted to a maximum security psychiatric institution: Offenders and offences. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence 6(4)*, 461-475.
- Ritvo, E., Shanok, S. S., & Lewis, D. O. (1982). Firesetting and non firesetting delinquents: A comparison of neuropsychiatric, psychoeducational, experimental and behavioural characteristics. *Child Psychiatry and Human Development, 13,* 259-267.
- Rivard, J. C., Johnsen, M.C., Morrissey, J. P., & Starrett, B. E. (1990). The dynamics of interagency collaboration: How linkages develop for child welfare and juvenile justice sectors in a system of care demonstration. *Journal of Social Science Research*, *25* (3), 61-82.

- Rothstein, R. (1963). Explorations of ego structures of firesetting children. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *9*, 246-253.
- Sanders, J. R. (1998). W. K. Kellogg Foundation evaluation handbook. Battle Creek, MI: W. K. Kellogg Foundation.
- Sakheim, G. A. & Osborn, E. (1999). Severe v's non severe firesetters revisited. *Child Welfare*, *78*, 411-434.
- Saunders, R. P., Evans, M. H., & Joshi, P. (2005). Developing a processevaluation plan for assessing health promotion programme implementation: A how-to guide. *Evaluation and Practice*, *6*(2), 134-147.
- Schwatrzman, P., Stambaugh, H & Kimball, J. (1998). Arson and Juveniles: Responding to the Violence. Federal Emergency Management Agency. United States Fire Administration. Retrieved 22 August 2007 from http://www.usfa.dhs.gov/downloads/txt/publications/tr-095.txt
- Sharp, D. L., Blaakman, S. W., Cole, E. C., & Cole, R. E. (2006). Evidence based multidisciplinary strategies for working with children who set fires. *Journal of American Psychiatric Nurses Association*, 11 (6), 329-337.
- Shiang, J., Kjellander, C., Huang, K., & Bogumill, S. (1998). Developing cultural competency in clinical practice: Treatment considerations for Chinese cultural groups in the United States. *Clinical Psychology: Science and Practice Vol 5(2) Sum 1998, 182-210*.
- Shirk, S. R., & Karver, M. (2003). Prediction of treatment outcome from relationship variables in child and adolescent therapy: A meta-analytic review. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology, 71 (3)*, 452-464.
- Shirk, S. R., & Saiz, C. (1992). The therapeutic alliance in child therapy: Clinical, empirical, and developmental perspectives. *Development and Psychopathology, 4,* 713-728.
- Shoenwald, S. K., & Henggeler, S. W. (2002). Mental health services research and family-based treatment: Bridging the gap. In H. Liddle, G. Diamond, R. Levant, J. Bray & D. Santiseban (Eds.)., *Family Psychology Intervention Science*. Washington, DC: American Psychological Association.
- Showers, J., & Pickrell, E. (1987). Child Firesetters: A Study of three populations. Hospital and Community Psychiatry, 38, 495-501.
- Slavkin, M. L. & Fineman, K. (2000). What every professional who works with adolescents needs to know about firesetters. *Adolescence*, *35*, 659-773.

- Spencer, L., Ritchie, J., Lewis, J., & Dillon, L. (2003). *Quality in qualitative evaluation: A framework for assessing research evidence*. UK: National Centre for Social Research.
- Stadolnik, R. F. (2000). *Drawn to the flame: Assessment and treatment of juvenile firesetting behavior.* Sarasora, FL: Professional Resource Press.
- Statistics New Zealand. (2006). *Calendar year apprehension statistics*. Retrieved 18 June, 2007, from http://www.stats.govt.nz/products-and-services/table-builder/crime-tables/apprehensions/apprehension-calendar.htm
- Stewart, M. A. & Culver, K. W. (1982). Children who start fires: The clinical picture and a follow-up. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *140*, 357-363.
- Stickle, T. R. & Bleckman, E., A. (2002). Aggression and fire: Antisocial behaviour in firesetting and non firesetting juvenile offenders. *Journal of Psychopathology and Behavioural Assessment, 24,* 177-193.
- Strachan, J. C. (1981). Conspicuous fire setting in children. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 138, 26-29.
- Stroul, B. A. & Friedman, R. (1986). A system of care for the severely emotionally disturbed youth. Washington, DC: Georgetown University, Child and Adolescent Service System Programme Technical Assistance Center.
- Sue, S., Fujino, D. C., Hu, L., Takeuchi, D. T., & Zane, N. (1991). Community mental health services for ethnic minority groups: A test of the cultural responsiveness hypothesis. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *59*(4), 533-540.
- Swaffer, T., & Hollin, C. R. (1995). Adolescent firesetting: Why do they say they do it? Journal of *Adolescence*, *18*, 619-623.
- Tapscott, D. (1998). *Growing up digital: The rise of the net generation.* New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Thorpe, D. M. (2003). Computer play as a Clinical Intervention for children with PDD. Retrieved 9 July 2007 from http://superkids.com/aweb/pages/features/pdd
- Verduin, J. R., Jnr., & Clark, T. A. (1991). *Distance Education : The foundation for effective practice*. San Franciso: Jossey-Bass.

- Vreeland, R. G., & Levin, B. M. (1980). Psychological aspects of firesetting. In D. Canter (Ed.), *Fires and human behaviour* (pp. 31-46). Chichester, England: John Wiley & Sons.
- Walsh, D., Lambie, I., & Stewart, M. (2004). Sparking Up: Family, behavioural and empathy factors in adolescent firesetters. *American Journal of Forensic Psychology*, 22(1), 5-32.
- Webb, N. B., Sakheim, G. A., Towns-Miranda, L., & Wagner, C. R. (1990). Collaborative treatment of juvenile firesetters: Assessment and outreach. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 60(2), 305-310.

- Wilcox, D. K. (2006). Assessing Fire setting Behaviour in Children and Adolescents. In S. N. Sparta & G. P. Koocher (Eds.), Forensic mental health assessment of children and adolescents (pp. 381-398). NY: Oxford University Press.
- Williams, C. E., & Jones, R. T. (1989). Impact of self-instructions on response maintenance and children's fear of fire. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, 18(1), 84-89.
- Witmer, B. B., & Singer, M. J. (1994). *Measuring Presence in Virtual Environments* (ARI Tech Report No. 1014). Alexandria, VA: U.S. Army Research Institute for the Behavioural and Social Sciences
- Wolfe, E. L., Guydish, J., Woods, W., & Tajima, B. (2004). Perspectives on the drug court model across systems: A process evaluation. Journal of Psychoactive Drugs, 36, 379-386.
- Wolff, R. (1984). Satiation in the treatment of inappropriate fire setting. *Journal of Behaviour Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 15(4), 337-340.
- Wooden, W. S., & Berkley, M. L. (1984). *Children and Arson: America's Middle class nightmare*. New York NY: Plenum Press.
- Yarnell, H. (1940). Firesetting in children. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 10, 272-287.